
Schools Forum 
Agenda 

 
Thursday, 15 December 2022 
4.30pm – 6.30pm , Virtual - Microsoft Teams 
 
For more information contact: dipesh.gajmer@lewisham.gov.uk   tel: 020 83149189  
 

 
 

Item  Pages 
 

1.   Apologies and Acceptance of Apologies 
 

 

2.   Declaration of Interests 
 

 

3.   Minutes of the Meeting - 20 October 2022 
 

1 - 5 

4.   Matters Arising 
 

 

5.   Dedicated Schools Grant 2023/24 
 
The purpose of this report is to agree the principle and approach for the 
2023/24 schools funding – Authority Proforma Tool (APT) submission to 
the Department for Education (DfE). 
 

6 - 11 

6.   Lewisham Learning - Options for De-delegation 
 
The report presents funding options for consideration by Schools Forum 
to inform the future of Lewisham Learning. 

Appendix 1 – Reforming How Local Authorities School Functions Are 
Funded 

Appendix 2 – Schools Causing Concern – Guidance – Update – 
Representations 

 

12 - 95 

7.   High Needs Block - Update from Schools Forum Working Group 
Meeting 
 
Verbal update to Schools Forum on:- 
   

 Delivering Best Value (DfE) 

 Mitigation Plan – update 

 Resource Base Funding  
 
 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:dipesh.gajmer@lewisham.gov.uk


8.   Any Other Business 
 
Future meetings  
 
19 January 2023 (provisional date) 
 

 
All meetings will be held between 16.30 and 18.30 virtually  

 
 

Sub Group meetings  
 

High Needs Sub Group 
 

 
1st December 2022, 12.30 
– 2pm 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 
 

   



 DRAFT 
 

LEWISHAM SCHOOLS FORUM 

Minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 20th October 2022 

   

Membership (Quorum = 40% i.e. 9)  = present  =absent     a = apologies  

                  s = substitute  

  Attendance 

Primary School Headteachers  16/

12 

20/

01 

28/

06 

20/

10 

Date of 

Appointment 

Jacqueline Noakes John Ball x a   Dec 2021 

Manda George Torridon Primary     Jan 2022 

Sharon Lynch St William of York     Jan 2022 

Julie Loffstadt Kilmorie     Jan 2022 

Matthew Ringham Our Lady & St Philip Neri   a  Jan 2022 

David Lucas Trinity     Jan 2021 

Maxine Osbaldeston Launcelot     Jan 2021 

Nursery School Headteacher       

Cathryn Arnold-Kinsey  Clyde Nursery    a Jan 2022 

Secondary School 

Headteachers 

      

Naill Hand Prendergast Ladywell     Oct 2022 

Michael Sullivan  Conisborough College     Oct 2022 

Special School Headteacher       

Lynne Haines  Greenvale     Dec 2021  

Pupil Referral Unit 

Headteacher 

      

Heather Johnston Abbey Manor     Dec 2020 

Primary School Governors       

Daniel Meyer St Bartholomews     Jan 2022 

Peter Fidel Eliot Bank and Gordonbrock 

Federation 

 a   June 2021 

Secondary & Special School 

Governors 

      

Pat Barber Bonus Pastor   a  Jan 2022 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Andy Rothery Leathersellers Federation     June 2021 

VACANT SPECIAL SCHOOL      

Academies       

Miz Mann STEP Academy Trust     Oct 2021 

Ann Butcher Childeric  a  a June 2021 

14-19 Consortium Rep       

Gerard Garvey Lewisham Southwark College     June 2022 

Early Years – PVI       

VACANT       

Diocesan Authorities       

VACANT Southwark Diocesan Board of 

Education (Church of England) 

     

Yvonne Epale Education Commission – 

Catholic Diocese of Southwark 

    May 2021  

       

     

   

Observers/Others in attendance   

Strategic Business Partner Mala Dadlani  

Director of Education Services Angela Scattergood  

Business Partner Floyd Roberts  

LB Lewisham - SEN Clare Gurbutt  

LB Lewisham - HR Diane Parkhouse  

LB Lewisham - Finance Nick Penny  

LB Lewisham - Estates Fiona Gavin  

LB Lewisham Ruth Griffiths  

LB Lewisham Sandra Roberts  

NEU James Kerr  

Leathersellers’ Federation Tony Marnham  

Clerk Janita Aubun  

1. Apologies and Acceptance of Apologies    

  Apologies accepted from Cathryn Arnold-Kinsey and Ann Butcher. Welcomed Niall Hand –     
reappointed as Secondary School Head representative and Michael Sullivan – elected as 
Secondary School Head rep. 

 

2.   Declaration of Interest 

  

None. 

 

Page 2



3.   Minutes of the Meeting of 28 June 2022 

  

No comments, minutes agreed as accurate. 

 

4.   Matters arising 

 

Report on TOFTUA 

Detailed in forum agenda Item 6.   

Schools Forum Training for Members 

Training confirmed as delivered, on 29th September 2022. 

 

5.   Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) – 2021/22, 2022/23 & 2023/24 (provisional) 

      This report set out the DSG position 2021/22 (final), 2022/23 (update and forecast position) and DSG   

2023/24 (provisional). Linked to the report was a powerpoint presentation on High Needs Funding as 

discussed at the Schools Forum High Needs Working Group. This included officers discussing EHCPs 

benchmarked against the residential population and distribution across schools. 

2022/23 projections – schools block is expected to balance. Surplus balance b/f from 2021/22 @ circa 

£400k but some of this surplus is to be used to fund growth in our secondary schools and remaining 

potentially to support TTO once this exercise is concluded. 

Central Services Block – continued pressure as the funding continues to be reduced year on year.  Once 

we have clarity from DfE around the role and expectation on LA (white paper) we can progress the 

detailed piece of work.  To support the process£500k has been provided by the General Fund. 

High Needs Block – potentially £5M deficit 2022/23 (includes approx. £11M b/f from 2021/22). Much of 

the pressure is from the Early Years sector (0 – 5yrs) and Further Education (FE).  We are in 3rd tranche of 

the Delivering Best Value DfE scheme. 

Early Years Block – Following the annual cleansing process, the DfE has confirmed additional funding of 

£1.3m based.  Proposed that £1m supports HNB with the remaining supporting contingency for any 

potential future drift in funding verses payments. 

       Schools Forum was asked to:- 
 

 note the potential pressure on the High Needs Block – noted. 
 agree the application to transfer £1M carry forward surplus in the Early Years Block to fund the 

High Needs Block – agreed. 
 £300k to be held in the central contingency, owing to the national issues faced on birth rates – 

agreed. 
 

2023/24  
  
We await the detail of the funding settlement late December including growth funding and any additional 
funding from the autumn statement  
 Potentially an increase in Early Years Funding based on the consultation paper response in summer 
 Further 20% reduction in Central Services Block. (circa £400k) 

 

6. Review Method for Funding Time Off for Trade Union Activities and Duties (TOFTUA) 

 
Forum were presented with a report detailing the current method of reimbursing for TOFTUA 
activities and duties. This agenda item is to recognise historic drifts so that schools do not lose out and 
that all schools contribute. 
The report clarified the approach for funding the proposal through direct de-delegation for maintained 
schools and charge for academies.  
 

Page 3



It was explained that on October count date, we have to be made aware who the trade union 

representatives are. HR will apply the cost for trade union support divided by the whole school 

population to get the recovery rate. That recovery rate will be applied for both mainstream schools 

and academies, thereby ensuring transparency. Forum queried over whether we can make this 

process ‘mandatory’ for academies. HR to find out from the academies who is in and who is out. 

Forum were informed that if an academy is out of scope, then the trade unions need to recover the 

funding from them direct either via the regional office or locally a trained union representative from 

their MAAT. 

Schools Forum agreed the following:- 
 

 Allocation of TOFTUA to be paid to schools on the basis of true cost as at October. 
 The total costs to be divided by the total pupil population across all schools including 

academies (5 to 16) and continue to form the de-delegation element of the schools funding 
formula.  Policy needs to cover special schools, AP and maintained nursery. 

 
Schools forum noted:- 
 

 HR to bring an updated paper to Forum in December to agree the de-delegated budget 
position, and agree the billing position and process in relation to academies, ensuring 
transparency and clarity.  

 
 

7. Responses to Recent Consultation Papers 

Forum were made aware of three recent consultation papers included in the Forum reports, 
namely:- 

 SEND Green Paper Consultation, London Borough of Lewisham response 

 Sept 2022 EY National Funding Formula Consultation Lewisham 

 Sept 2022 National Funding Formula Consultation Lewisham 

The responses were noted and the Chair thanked officers for their consultation feedback. There 
were no further comments or queries raised by members. 

 

8.  Any Other Business  

Discussion with Forum on the following:- 

Teachers Pay Award 
Schools not clear if this award will be funded. Unions are balloting. Degree of uncertainty for schools. 
2023/24 funding  
Potentially no increase in per pupil funding which is @ 1.5- 2% 
Energy Crisis 
Schools are classed as a vulnerable group but as a council we may not benefit from govt. support 
which may be offered as part of the Energy Bill Relief Scheme.  
Free School Meals (FSM) – schools are funded on lagged numbers. School meals providers are 
increasing their prices. How can schools passport that increase to parents? 
Inflation – currently peaking at 10%. How will this affect school contracts for example. Schools are not 
receiving a level of funding to sustain this. 
Loby  
Forum discussed whether to loby government via a joint letter from all London Council headteachers 
about the cost of living crisis. Agreed that a response will be made via Schools Forum to DfE to raise 
awareness/concern of the pressures on schools. 
School Meal Prices 
Question raised regarding standardisation of prices. Fewer schools are in the Lewisham catering 
contract and there are many variations.  Decision was that this is not a mandate for Forum. 
 
 
 

Page 4



 

 

Future Meetings 

15th December 2022 

19th January 2023 (provisional date, subject to DfE timelines) 

All Schools Forum meetings continue to be held between 16:30-18:30 and remain virtual, unless 

advised otherwise. 

 

Sub Group meetings  

High Needs Sub Group 

 

1st December 2022 

12.30 – 2pm 

 

 

 

Schools Forum Action Summary 

Item Action to be taken Officer(s) 
responsible 

Outcome/Current 
position 

6 – 
Schools 
Forum 
20th 
October 
2022 
 
8 – 
AOB. 
Schools 
Forum 
20th 
October 
2022 

TOFTUA – updated policy paper to 
bring to the next Forum in 
December, to agree the de-
delegated budget position.  
 
 
 
Cost of living crisis - to lobby at 
National Level. 

Diane Parkhouse 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All headteachers 

For December 2022 
forum 

 

Page 5



 

 

 

  

 Schools Forum 

 

Report title: Dedicated Schools Grant 2023/24 
 

Date: 15th December 2022 

Key decision: No 

Contributors:  

Mala Dadlani Strategic Business Partner, Children & Young People 

Angela Scattergood, Director of Education 

 

Page 6

Agenda Item 5



 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

Outline and recommendations 

The purpose of this report is to agree the principle and approach for the 2023/24 schools 
funding – Authority Proforma Tool (APT) submission to the Department for Education (DfE). 
 

1. Schools Forum is asked to agree guiding principles including:- 
I. Continuation with the National Funding Formula in the deployment of the 

Schools Block. 
 

II. Agree to any growth funding to be included on the APT tool, with a minimal 
amount in the Growth Fund Budget to fund incremental support for bulge class 
and potentially any unplanned in-year growth/bulges. Any unused funds, to be 
held in the Growth Fund. 
 

III. De-delegation to be in line with the current basis plus inflation (where 
appropriate). 
 

 
IV. Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) – consider two options for MFG:- 

Option one- MFG set at max 0.5% (estimate), with any residue to support 
pressures in HNB. 
Option two- 0.5% transfer from Schools Block, followed by MFG set at 
affordability. 

 
V. Review of the PFI factor 

Option one- Current method 
Option two- Current method adjusted to only include delegated budget 
share 

 
2. Schools forum is also asked to note the continuation of financial risk associated with 

High Needs (demand led), Early Year (EY) (numbers accessing free entitlement), 
pressure on schools arising from economic challenges and national policy. 

 
3. Schools forum is also asked to note and agree to receive further updates as more 

information is made available at the January meeting and the summer meeting. 
 

4. Schools forum is further asked to approve the application of the increase in funding 
for EY as detailed in this report. 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 7

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

At the time of writing, a partial Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) settlement has been 
advised by the DfE, which was the main matter for discussion at the last schools forum 
meeting.  

The final settlement is due just before the Christmas break, with a submission to the DfE 
due 20th January 2023.  This leaves a very small time frame for officers to undertake 
detailed work.  Schools forum to note that this will mean that the lead in time will be 
reduced from 5 working days to 3 (potentially). 

The December meeting is commonly used for discussion between the Local Authority 
and Schools forum to agree the approach to facilitate the finalisation of the APT 
submission.   

January 19th - a further meeting of Schools forum to support the submission of the APT 
tool to the DfE. 

 

1. Summary 

1.1. Main focus of this report is requesting Schools Forum to consider and agree main 
components of the 2023/24 funding formula that will enable Lewisham Council to 
provide a draft funding formula (the Authority Proforma Tool or APT), to the Department 
for Education (DfE), in January.   

1.2. Please note we will provide further update on various risks including:- 

 High Needs Block 

 Early Years Funding 

 Central School  Services Block (CSSB) 

 

2. Background 

2.1. Each Local Authority (LA) is required to submit their agreed Local Schools Funding 
Formula to the DfE by the 20th January 2023 (primary and secondary).  

2.2. The deadline for producing this information is very challenging as the financial 
settlement is unlikely to be known until around 22nd December 2022. For this reason, 
there could potentially be a delay to the reports dispatch process - although every 
effort will be taken to meet the required timescales. Schools forum to note 

2.3. The APT tool submission is mainly based on the Schools Block, however the LA is 
responsible for ensuring overall affordability across the whole Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG) 

2.4. The APT modelling tool is provided by the DfE and is largely a pre-populated data 
modelling tool.  

2.5. Using the APT tool, the LA determines each school’s budget share and associated 
Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG).  The MFG is based on overall affordability and 
is now confirmed at 0 to 0.5% uplift per pupil (based on pupil-led characteristics e.g. 
Age Weighted Pupil Unit (AWPU), Free School Meals etc.).  Subject to affordability 
we will aspire to achieve as close to 0.5% as possible (or the maximum advised by 

Page 8

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

the DfE), as we are currently unclear if there is any additional funding that be added 
through increased MFG or a specific grant).  

2.6. Once the APT is submitted it remains provisional until the DfE has undertaken 
validation and approved the submission for accuracy and compliance. 

2.7. Special Schools are funded based on their operating model of places and top up.  
Funding for Special Schools is from the High Needs Block and is not part of the APT 
reconciliation.   

2.8. Equally nursery schools, PVIs and the early years component for primary schools are 
funded from the Early Years Block and are not part of the APT tool process. No 
information has been received with regards to EY funding.  The January 2023 forum 
report will provide an update based on the funding settlement. The recent EY funding 
consultation reported to forum in October 2022, suggested a likely increase in funding 
levels for Lewisham but we have no confirmation of this. In conversation, the DfE has 
confirmed that the recent funding announcements in the government’s autumn 
statement do not cover early years or post-16.  We await clarity from DfE in the 
December funding settlement. 

2.9. There is a legal requirement for all schools to be advised of their budget share by the 
end of February 2023.   It is at this point schools will be formally advised of their 
delegated budget share. 

2.10. This report seeks to gain the necessary mandate to enable officers to provide schools 
forum with final funding information to enable both the above deadlines to be met. 

 

3. DSG 2023/24 

3.1. Schools forum was advised of the partial settlement for 2023/24 at their meeting in 
October 2022.  Initially information received from the DfE suggested that the 
supplementary grant would be rolled into the DSG for statutory school age pupils.  
The autumn statement announced that there will be a new grant to distribute funding. 
Initial discussions with DfE suggest that funding will be at similar levels to the 2022/23 
version of the supplementary grant, but until we have information in writing this 
cannot be confirmed. 

3.2. Our interpretation we cautiously surmise a potential uplift of circa 5%: (supplementary 
grant streamlined (2.5%); new supplementary grant (circa 2% to 2.5%), uplift in MFG 
(0.5%). Again, this will not be confirmed until December settlement. 

 

4. Proposed application of the Schools Block 

4.1. Alignment to the National Funding Formula - Continue to progress with the 
principles of the National Funding Formula in full.  This includes using all funding 
values as determined by the DfE. Schools Forum to agree (primary and 
secondary)  

4.2. Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) uplift – the DfE requirement is that all schools 
will receive an uplift of between 0 to 0.5%.   Subject to affordability it is proposed that 
the formula will endeavour to deliver on or as close to the max allowed by the DfE. 
Schools Forum to agree (primary and secondary)  

 

Page 9

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

5. De-delegation 

 

5.1. The DfE guidance enables Local Authorities to provide services centrally which are 
funded by a process known as de-delegation. This only applies to mainstream 
schools and not academies. As such, funding levels agreed will reduce should any 
school convert following finalisation of the budget process.  

5.2. The de-delegation process must be agreed every year and supported (by means of 
voting) by the representative of each phase at Schools Forums. The proposal for 
2022/23 delegation are in line with the current de-delegation levels. It is proposed that 
de-delegation continues in line with current levels plus 5% uplift where indicated 
(referencing to mid-level pay awards), and supports the following: 

 

a) Administration of Free School Meals (£61.3k plus 5%) = £64.4k 

b) Trade union and non-sickness supply scheme (Maternity Fund) (£1.14m plus 
5% = £1.2m) Schools Forum to note, that we are currently gathering 
information on those establishments that need reimbursement which will form 
the basis of the recovery method) 

c) School Improvement – Consider separate paper on School Improvement= 
£450,094 

d) Schools Contingency – to support costs that should not be reasonably 
incurred by a governing body.  (£557k).  Please note that Schools Forum has 
agreed a two year finance support package, 2023/24 as agreed by Schools 
Forum in October 2021. 

5.3. Schools Forum to agree (primary and secondary) de-delegation as proposed in 
table 1 below 

Table 1- Proposed de-delegation 2023/24 

De-delegation Types Current Revised Difference  

Schools contingency £557,604 £557,604 0 

Free school meals eligibility £61,333 £64,400 £3,067 

Licences/ subscriptions  subject to DfE request £176,486 

To be 
advised by 

DfE  

Staff costs supply cover £1,127,500 £1,183,875 £56,375 

Lewisham Learning £450,094 

Subject to 
report 

elsewhere  

   £2,372,317     

 

6. Overall duty to ensure spending is within DSG 

 

6.1. There is a requirement for the DSG to spend within the overall affordability.  Schools 
forum will be aware from previous discussions on the pressure, in particular relating to 
the High Needs Block 

6.2. Schools forum to receive verbal update from the High needs Working group meeting 

 

Page 10

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

7. Transfer request of 0.5% to support the High Needs Bloc 

7.1. Schools Forum is asked to consider a potential transfer of 0.5% from the 
Schools Block to the High Needs for 2023/24. 

7.2. To enable this consideration it is proposed that two options are put to schools forum:-  

a.  APT using full funding. 

b. Impact of transfer of 0.5%. 

 

8. Early Years Funding 

8.1 At the time of writing we have yet to receive confirmation of the EY block.  Depending 
on the final settlement position, Officers will provide recommendations for 
consideration by schools forum.  This will include an overall uplift based on the current 
formula allocation. 

9. Financial implications 

9.1. There are no significant financial implications of this report 

10. Legal implications 

10.1. There are no significant legal implications of this report. 

 

11. Equalities implications 

11.1. There are no direct EI implications arising from this report as it complies with the 
implementation of the NFF which its self would have been through the EI assessement. 

 

12. Climate change and environmental implications 

12.1. There are no crime and disorder implications of this report. 

13. Crime and disorder implications 

13.1. There are no crime and disorder implications of this report.  

14. Health and wellbeing implications  

14.1.  There are no direct health and wellbeing implications 

15. Report authors and contact 

15.1. Mala Dadlani Strategic Business Partner – CYP, mala.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk  

15.2. Angela Scattergood, Director of Education, angela.scattergood@lewisham.gov.uk 

 

Page 11

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:mala.dadlani@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:angela.scattergood@lewisham.gov.uk


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

 

Lewisham Schools Forum 

 

 

 

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

Changes must be made to the service from September 2023 to ensure spend for 
2023/24 is within budget allocations.  

 

 

 

Report title: Proposed de-delegation for Lewisham Learning (school 
improvement) 2023/24 

 

Date: 15th December 2022 

Key decision: No 

Contributors:  

Sandra Roberts, Director Lewisham Learning 

Angela Scattergood, Director of Education 

Outline and recommendations 

 

At the meeting of the 16th December 2021, schools forum was advised of the 
cessation of the School Improvement and Brokerage Grant from April 2023.  

Schools forum is asked to consider the recommendation from the Lewisham 
Learning Strategic Board to; 

 maintain the 2022-23 level of de-delegation from April 2023 for 1 year 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

1. Purpose of report 

1.1. The purpose of this paper is to provide the School Forum with; 

 A summary of the current funding arrangements for Lewisham Learning 

to August 2023 

 A report on the impact of Lewisham Learning 2022-23 

 A recommendation from the Lewisham Learning Strategic Board to 
maintain the 2022-23 level of de-delegation from April 2023 for one year 

2. Background 

2.1. Lewisham Learning is a partnership of Lewisham schools and the Local 
Authority. The purpose of the partnership is to improve school performance 
amongst member schools. 
 

2.2. The partnership is overseen and governed by the Lewisham Learning 
Strategic Board. The board provides overall strategic direction and 
approves an annual work programme including the monitoring of the 
budget.  

 
2.3. The board meets at least six times a year  

 

2.4. Membership of the board is kept under review but seeks to represent key 
stakeholders including; 

 Executive Director CYP   

 Lead Council Member with responsibility for Children & Young 
People 

 Director of Education  

 Maintained Secondary Governor Representative   

 Maintained Primary Governor Representative   

 Leadership Forum Representative    

 Secondary School Leadership Forum Representative   

 Maintained Nursery and primary School Head Teacher 
Representative   

 Maintained Special School  Head Teacher Representative   

 Non-Maintained, Academy Head Teacher/ CEO 
Representative 

 Tackling Race Inequality Steering Group Head Teacher 
Representative 

 London South Teaching School Representative 
 

3. De-delegation, School Improvement and the removal of the monitoring and 

brokering grant  

3.1. DfE guidance enables Local Authorities to provide services centrally which are 

funded by a process known as de-delegation. The de-delegation process must 

be agreed every year by school forum. To coincide with the removal of the 

monitoring and brokering grant the DfE changed the regulations to allow the 

schools forum to de-delegate to provide statutory school improvement services 

Page 13

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

as well as the discretionary ones they could previously (see appendix 1 and 2 for 

details).  

 

3.2. The rationale for this put forward by the DfE was that by expecting maintained 

school budgets to pay for these services it would; 

 result in greater involvement of school leaders in the design and delivery of 

them  

 level the playing field with academies who have to pay for them through their 

top slice to a MAT. 

 

3.3. The DfE believe these services are important and expect that schools forum will 

ensure the LA is funded adequately to deliver them. 

 

4. Recommendations 

 

4.1. The Lewisham Learning Strategic Board met on 28 November and 

considered the future funding and role of Lewisham Learning. 

 

4.2. The board unanimously agreed to recommend that school forum agree to; 

 maintain the 2022-23 level of de-delegation from April 2023 for 1 year 

(Option 3)  

 

4.3. If forum agrees to this the partnership board will; 

 ensure the LA, through the Lewisham Learning partnership can carry 

out its statutory role  

 reduce its costs by making changes to aspects of the enhanced 

programme, which is discretionary 

 develop a new staffing structure and programme within the budget 

agreed.  

 

5. Funding and the offer 

5.1. Since 2017 the partnership has been funded from 2 sources: 

 An LA commission (via the school improvement monitoring and brokering 

grant) to deliver statutory school improvement functions across the 

borough. (The Lewisham Learning Universal Offer) 

 An amount de-delegated from maintained school budgets, through the 

school forum, to deliver a range of discretionary school improvement 

activities to maintained schools. (The Lewisham Learning Enhanced Offer) 

 

 

Page 14

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

5.2. The universal offer  

5.2.1. The partnership has been commissioned by Lewisham Local Authority (LA) 

to deliver the statutory core duties relating to school improvement. The LA 

utilised a DfE School improvement Monitoring and Brokering Grant to 

support this investment into Lewisham Learning. 

5.2.2. The Grant was provided by the DfE to support councils to fulfil their core 

improvement activities, with the amount received by each council 

proportionate to the number of maintained schools in their area. 

5.2.3. In October 2021, the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) 

launched a consultation on the future of the monitoring and brokering grant 

beyond March 2022. This proposed that in future these functions be funded 

from maintained school budgets and that the grant be reduced by 50% from 

March 2022 and fully removed from March 2023.  

5.2.4. The ESFA proceeded with the plans outlined in the consultation.  The 50% 

reduction of the grant took place from April 2022 and the grant was reduced 

by 50% to £150k.  

5.2.5. In February 2022 school forum agreed to de-delegate an additional £150k 

for one year to maintain the commission to August 2023 (£5.25 per pupil). 

5.2.6. The grant ends fully in March 2023 and a decision needs to be made about 

future funding for both core statutory duties and any additional preventative 

work. 

5.3. The enhanced offer  

5.3.1. Since 2017 discretionary school improvement activities have been provided 

to maintained schools in Lewisham. These have been funded by de-

delegation from maintained school budgets, through the school forum.  

6. Expenditure 

 

6.1. The universal Offer 

 

6.1.1. The core improvement activities included in the LA commission (The 

universal offer) are set out in Part 4 of the Education and Inspections Act 

2006 (the 2006 Act) and on page 47 of the Schools Causing Concern 

guidance. They include; 

 understand the performance of maintained schools in their area, using 
data as a starting point to identify any maintained school that is 
underperforming, while working with them to explore ways to support 
progress  

 brokering school improvement provision for maintained schools,  

Page 15

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 intervening in maintained schools as appropriate 

 encouraging good and outstanding maintained schools to take 
responsibility for their own improvement; support other maintained 
schools; and enable other maintained schools to access the support 
they need to improve. 

 making provision to carry out statutory assessment duties for key 
stage 2 

 advising on the appointment of headteachers in maintained schools 

 limited duties in relation to school governors 
 

6.1.2. The Lewisham Learning School Improvement Framework 2022-23 sets out 

the processes and procedures by which the Lewisham Learning partnership 

works to ensure all schools offer the highest quality of education to all 

pupils. It reaffirms the statutory roles and responsibilities of school 

governors and the Local Authority and should be read in conjunction with 

the Local Authority Education Strategy. 

6.1.3. The allocation of resources for the universal programme is transparent and 

in inverse proportion to success. Schools are categorised in line with the 

School Improvement Framework and those with the greatest needs, or 

carrying the greatest risk of not securing good outcomes, receive higher 

levels of support than those with less need or risk. This programme is 

highly successful in assessing risk and intervening early so that the LA can 

accurately predict Ofsted outcomes and ensure schools get the right levels 

of support and challenge in a timely way. The universal programme 

provides a suitably qualified School Improvement Partner (SIP) for all 

schools to support accurate categorisation and ensures resources and 

interventions go where they are needed. It also provides a framework for 

good and outstanding schools to support other schools. In 2022/23 the 

programme funded; 

 A Primary and nursery school programme £137k 

 A Secondary school programme £50k 

 A Special school programme £4k 

 Management costs of the programme £38k 
 

6.2. The Enhanced Programme for LA Maintained Schools 

6.2.1. Currently the enhanced programme is driven by the needs of maintained 

schools as agreed by the strategic board. These priorities reflect issues 

identified through a range of sources, including data and emerging issues 

6.2.2. The allocation of the enhanced programme is transparent. Its aims are to 

meet the school improvement needs of the maintained primary and 

secondary schools. In 2022/23 the programme funded; 

Page 16

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 The tackling race inequality programme (£100k per annum) 

 Partnerships and hubs to support Humanities Research, Science 

and the Arts (£45k per annum) 

 primary projects including the core school offer and peer review 

(£117k per annum) 

 Secondary projects including the core school offer and peer review 

(£100k per annum)  

 Whole school reviews for schools expecting an Ofsted inspection 

(£24k per annum) 

 Data analysis services and reports for schools – MIME (£55k per 

annum) 

 FFT subscriptions for secondary schools (£22k per annum) 

 Management costs of the programme (£38k per annum) 

 Communications (£20k per annum) 

 

6.3. Central costs of running the partnership to include leadership, 

management  

6.3.1. In 2022/23 the central costs are estimated to be around £62k. The 

partnership has director and part time project manager. Currently all work 

not carried out by the part time member of staff is commissioned on a day 

rate basis. The partnership uses the expertise of Lewisham school leaders 

whenever possible. This is a key strategy and highly successful. 

6.3.2. Where staff are engaged in the delivery of programmes their costs are 

apportioned to those programmes. For example the director and primary 

and secondary leads carry out school improvement partner work and 

deliver projects.  

7. Impact of the work of Lewisham Learning  

7.1. Through the combined programmes Lewisham Learning;  

 Has a good understanding of the performance of partnership schools. 

 Encourages good and outstanding schools to take responsibility for their 

own improvement and to support other schools.  

 Enables maintained schools to purchase from a diverse market of 

providers and be the broker where collective buying power can be used 

to best effect.  

 Signposts where schools can access appropriate support.  

 Secures strong and effective leadership and governance for maintained 

schools that are not providing a good enough education, by identifying 

and supporting successful partners.  

Page 17

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 Facilitates the identification and sharing of most effective practice  

7.2. The universal Programme 

7.2.1. The partnership provides support and challenge for all Lewisham 

maintained schools. Depending on their agreed category some schools 

benefit more from the service than others. In 2022-23 there are 3 schools 

categorised as needing a high level of support, 8 schools categorised as 

needing a medium level of support, and 68 schools categorised as needing 

a core level of support. The numbers of schools categorised as high level 

and medium level has reduced significantly since the creation of Lewisham 

Learning in 2017. 

7.2.2. The universal programme is intended to ensure Lewisham Learning 

monitors performance, broker’s appropriate support and intervenes in 

schools that are causing concern. 

7.2.3. Evidence suggests monitoring performance is done well. Each school is 

visited regularly and their performance against key performance indicators 

is evaluated and verified. Support is offered in a targeted way to ensure any 

strengths are maximised and weaknesses addressed. Lewisham Learning 

evaluations are consistently found to match those of Ofsted inspectors. 

7.2.4. As the approach is preventative and designed to ensure schools get the 

best outcomes it is difficult to quantify how many schools have better 

Ofsted reports than they would have without Lewisham Learning but the 

percentage of Lewisham schools with better than national judgements from 

Ofsted is a good indicator that the approach is successful. There is also 

evidence that those outcomes have been improved over the life of 

Lewisham Learning (Table 1) and that the approach has been most 

successful for primary schools. A current focus for Lewisham Learning is to 

develop the approach across the secondary schools and we are now 

seeing the impact here in improved Ofsted outcomes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Table 1 – Ofsted % of schools on 07/11/22 (source Watchsted website) 

 

 
7.2.5. Table 2 is also evidence that the approach to brokering support is 

successful. School improvement partners match a good or outstanding 
school with one needing support and monitors and quality assures this 
support. School improvement partners are, in the main, leaders of 
Lewisham Schools so this also provides good opportunities for leaders to 
improve their practice and share that practice with other local schools. 
 

7.2.6. The third role of the universal programme is to intervene in schools 
“causing concern” or inadequate (DfE criteria). As table 2 shows 
Lewisham does not have any schools that meet that criteria. Lewisham 
Learning’s preventative approach and robust support and challenge for 
schools categorised as needing high level support is a significant factor in 
maintaining that.  

 

 
 

 
 

All schools Outstanding 

2019 

Outstanding 

Nov 22 

Good 

2019 

Good 

Nov 22 

At least 

good 

2019 

At 

least  

Good 

Nov 22 

 

Requires 

improvement 

2019 

Requires 

improvement 

Nov 22 

Inadequate 

2019 

Inadequate 

Nov 22 

National 18.2% 15.9% 67.5% 72.1% 85.6% 87.9% 10.8% 9% 3.6% 3% 

London 33.9% 26.1% 59.9% 68.1% 93.8% 94.3% 4.5% 4.6% 1.7% 1.1% 

Lewisham 
27.3% 23.7% 62.3% 71.1 89.6% 

94.7% 

 

10.4% 5.3% 0% 0% 

Primary 

Schools 
Outstanding 

 
Good 

 At least 

good 

 Requires 

Improvement 

 
Inadequate 

 

National 

Primary  
17.6% 15.4% 70% 74.1% 87.5% 89.5% 9.6% 8.1% 2.6% 2.4% 

London 

Primary  
32.4% 25.2% 63.1% 70.3% 95.5% 95.5% 3.4% 3.8% 0.9% 0.7% 

Lewisham 

Primary  
32.4% 24.2% 66.7% 74.2% 95.2% 99% 4.8% 1% 0% 0% 

Secondary 

Schools 
Outstanding 

 
Good 

 At least 

good 

 Requires 

Improvement 

 
Inadequate 

 

National 

Secondary  
21.2% 18.3% 54.9% 61.8% 76.1% 80.2% 16.8% 13.7% 7.1% 6.1% 

London 

Secondary  
40% 29.4% 46.9% 60.3% 86.9% 89.7% 9.1% 7.6% 4% 2.7% 

Lewisham 

Secondary  
21.4% 21.4% 42.9% 64.6% 64.3% 86% 35.7% 14% 0% 0% 

Page 19

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Table 2- Number of schools in each category 

 
 
7.3. The enhanced programme 

 
7.3.1. The activities provided through the enhanced programme are generally well 

received and have high levels of engagement. 
 

7.3.2. The interim evaluation of the tackling race inequality programme was 
positive but yet to deliver significant tangible outcomes against the agreed 
performance indicators 
 

7.3.3. The evaluation of the locality hubs show high levels of attendance and high 
levels of participant satisfaction. The schools most active in leading them 
continue to have the highest outcomes, 
 

7.3.4. The primary projects or “core school offer” is very popular with schools. It 
enables all school leaders to ring fence funds for school improvement and 
school improvement partners to monitor that schools are prioritising 
activities appropriately.  
 

7.3.5. The secondary projects or “secondary school core offer is new this year 
and yet to be evaluated. 

 
  

8. Options for the future of Lewisham Learning (see table 3 for costings) 
8.1. At the meeting on 28 November the strategic board considered the 

following options for 2023/24 funding of Lewisham Learning.  
 
8.1.1. Option One- Maintain the programme at the same level as 2022-23. This 

would require a further increase in the amount de-delegated by maintained 
schools to make up the shortfall in the DfE grant. This would require an 
increase of 150k in de-delegated funding, to a total of £600k.  
 

Type 

High 

2021 

High 

2022 

Medium 

2021 

Medium 

2022 
Core 

2021 

Core 

2022 

Total 

2021 

Total 

2022 

Maintained 

Primary/Nursery 
5 

1 
10 

8 
49 

54 64 63 

Maintained 

Secondary 
2 

2 
4 

0 
4 

8 10 10 

Maintained Special/ 

PRU  
0 

0 
0 

0 
6 

6 6 6 

 7 3 14 8 59 68 80 79 

Page 20

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

8.1.2. Option Two- Reduce the 2023/24 programme and maintain de-delegation 
at the 2022/23 level of £450k, making financial adjustments to all 
elements of the programmes. The likely impacts of this would be; 

 

 Lighter touch monitoring more dependent on desk top analysis than the 
deployment of school improvement partners.  
 

 Less accurate knowledge about school performance and therefore less 
effective targeting of support 
 

 Less accurate prediction of Ofsted and other outcomes leading to some 
schools needing more support later than if it had been offered earlier as 
now with schools categorised as Amber   
 

 Poorer relationships between schools and the LA  
 

 Significantly less support and challenge for schools currently 
categorised as needing a high level of support potentially leaving them 
vulnerable to further decline and special measures.  
 

 Fewer opportunities for good and outstanding school leaders to support 
other schools  

 

8.1.3. Option 3- Reduce the 2023/24 programme and maintain de-delegation at the 

2022/23 level of £450k, making savings from the enhanced elements of 

the programme only and protecting the universal programme. If the 

quality and scope of the enhanced programme is reduced the likely impacts of 

this would be 

 Fewer or no new initiatives to support innovation and school 
development  
 

 Less collaboration and a deterioration in collegiality and collaboration 
 

 More expensive services as schools loose some of the current benefits 
of economies of scale 
 

 Fewer opportunities for good and outstanding schools to lead on LA 
funded initiatives 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Table 3 Options 

Income  2022/23 2023/4 2023/4 2023/4 

  Option 1 Option 2 Option 3  

Dedelegated School 
Improvement Funding 

450,000 600,000 450,000 450,000 

LA monitoring, brokering 
and intervention SLA 

150,000    

Carry Forward 391,000 Est 
150,000 

Est 
150,000 

Est 
150,000 

Additional known income 
(as of Oct 2022) 
 

2,600     

Total funds 993,869 750,000 600,000 600,000 

 

Expenditure   * * 

Central costs  50k 50k 50k 50k 

     

Universal programme  320k 320k 250k 320k 

     

Enhanced programme     

tackling race inequality 100k 100k 50k 50k 

Partnerships and hubs 45k 40k   

primary projects   120k 80k 87k 25k 

Secondary projects 100k 40k 50k 25k 

Whole school reviews for 
schools expecting an Ofsted 
inspection 

24k 20k  25k 

Data analysis services 55k 45k 55k 45k 

FFT subscriptions 22k    

Management costs 38k 35k 38k 40k 

Communications 20k 20k 20k 20k 

Grand total 894 750 600k 600k 

 

*The figures in these columns are only examples. The totals would stay the same 

as in the table above but the board would consult with school leaders before 

agreeing an actual budget, staffing structure and action plan.  

9. Financial implications 

9.1. The report provides options for the continuation of the Lewisham Learning support 
to schools, in light of changes to funding available from DfE. The outcome of this 
report will be implemented into the Delegated Budget share response to DfE in 
January, please see associated report elsewhere on the Agenda. 

10. Legal implications 

10.1. There are no significant legal implications of this report. 

 

Page 22

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

 
 

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

11. Equalities implications 

11.1. There are no direct implications arising from this report 

 

12. Climate change and environmental implications 

12.1. There are no crime and disorder implications of this report. 

13. Crime and disorder implications 

13.1. There are no crime and disorder implications of this report.  

14. Health and wellbeing implications  

14.1.  There are no direct implications arising from this report 

15. Report authors and contact 

15.1. Sandra Roberts, Director Lewisham learning sandra.roberts@lewisham.gov.uk  

15.2. Angela Scattergood, Director of Education, angela.scattergood@lewisham.gov.uk 

16. Appendices 

 

 

Page 23

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:sandra.roberts@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:angela.scattergood@lewisham.gov.uk


  

Reforming how local 
authorities’ school 
improvement functions are 
funded 
Government consultation 

Launch date: 29 October 2021 
Respond by: 26 November 2021 

Page 24



2 

Contents 
Introduction 3 

Who this is for 3 

Issue date 3 

Enquiries 3 

Additional copies 3 

The response 3 

About this consultation 4 

Respond online 4 

Other ways to respond 4 

Deadline 4 

Reforming how local authorities’ school improvement functions are funded 5 

Background: Councils’ school improvement functions and how they are currently 
funded 5 

Proposal and rationale 6 

Proposal 1: Removing the Grant 8 

Proposal 2: Including provisions in the School and Early Years Finance (England) 
Regulations to enable councils to fund all core improvement activities via de-
delegation 8 

Clarifying guidance provided to councils with respect to school improvement 10 

Timeline 10 

Questions 12 

Page 25



3 

Introduction 
The purpose of this consultation is to seek views about proposed changes to how Local 
Authorities’ school improvement activities are funded. 

Who this is for 
• Local Authorities 
• Schools and parents 
• Any other interested organisations and individuals 

Issue date 
The consultation was issued on 29 October 2021. 

Enquiries 
If your enquiry is related to the policy content of the consultation you can contact the 
team on: 

SIMBgrant.consultation@education.gov.uk  

If your enquiry is related to the DfE e-consultation website or the consultation process in 
general, you can contact the DfE Ministerial and Public Communications Division by 
email: Consultations.Coordinator@education.gov.uk or by telephone: 0370 000 2288 or 
via the DfE Contact us page. 

Additional copies 
Additional copies are available electronically and can be downloaded from GOV.UK DfE 
consultations. 

The response 
The government’s response to the consultation will be published on GOV.UK in 
December 2021 / early January 2022. 

Page 26

mailto:Coordinator.CONSULTATIONS@education.gov.uk
https://www.education.gov.uk/help/contactus
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?keywords=&publication_filter_option=consultations&topics%5B%5D=all&departments%5B%5D=department-for-education&official_document_status=all&world_locations%5B%5D=all&from_date=&to_date=&commit=Refresh+results
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?keywords=&publication_filter_option=consultations&topics%5B%5D=all&departments%5B%5D=department-for-education&official_document_status=all&world_locations%5B%5D=all&from_date=&to_date=&commit=Refresh+results
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?departments%5B%5D=department-for-education&publication_filter_option=consultations


4 

About this consultation 
We would like to hear your views on our proposals to: 

• Remove the School Improvement Monitoring & Brokering Grant (‘the Grant’), 
which is currently allocated to local authorities to support school improvement 
activities; and 

• Make provisions within the School and Early Years Finance (England) 
Regulations for the financial year (FY) 2022-23 to allow local authorities to fund 
all of their school improvement activity (including all core school improvement 
activities) via de-delegation from schools’ budget shares. 

Respond online 
To help us analyse the responses please use the online system wherever possible. Visit 
www.education.gov.uk/consultations to submit your response. 

Other ways to respond 

If for exceptional reasons, you are unable to use the online system, for example 
because you use specialist accessibility software that is not compatible with the system, 
you may download a word document version of the form and email it or post it. 

By email 

• SIMBgrant.consultation@education.gov.uk  

By post 

SIMB grant consultation 
Department for Education 
Agora Building 
3 Cumberland Place 
Nottingham 
NG1 6HU 

Deadline 
The consultation closes on 26 November 2021. 

Page 27

http://www.education.gov.uk/consultations


5 

Reforming how local authorities’ school improvement 
functions are funded 
The local authority (referred to here as ‘council’) role in school improvement has 
changed significantly in recent years, with the growth of school-led approaches, such as 
Multi-Academy Trusts (MATs), putting school improvement in the hands of the strongest 
schools and school leaders. In turn, the council’s role in school improvement in 
maintained schools is increasingly focused on helping those of their schools that need 
it, to access the support they need from the school system. 

Given these changes in the respective roles and responsibilities of different parties in the 
school system, we believe now is the right time to revisit councils’ school improvement 
functions and how they are funded, and consider what this means for the future of the 
School Improvement Monitoring & Brokering Grant. 

Background: Councils’ school improvement functions and 
how they are currently funded  
Councils’ school improvement activity can be divided into their ‘core improvement 
activities’ and ‘additional improvement services’ which councils may opt to provide to 
maintained schools with their agreement. 

Core improvement activities 

Since 2017, the Grant has been provided to support councils to fulfil their core 
improvement activities, with the amount received by each council proportionate to the 
number of maintained schools in their area. 

These core improvement activities are set out in Part 4 of the Education and Inspections 
Act 2006 (the 2006 Act) and on page 36 of our Schools Causing Concern guidance. Part 
4 of the 2006 Act provides councils with statutory powers to warn and intervene in schools 
causing concern, through issuing a warning notice setting out actions the governing body 
are to take – with powers to require the governing body to enter into arrangements; to 
appoint additional governors; to provide for the governing body to consist of interim 
executive members; or to suspend the right to a delegated budget, if the governing body 
fails to take the required action. 

The Schools Causing Concern guidance sets out expectations that councils should: 

• Understand the performance of maintained schools in their area, using data as a 
starting point to identify any that are underperforming, while working with them to 
explore ways to support progress; 

Page 28

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/40/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/40/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/922910/schools_causing_concern1.pdf


6 

• Work closely with the relevant Regional School Commissioner (RSC), diocese 
and other local partners to ensure schools receive the support they need to 
improve; 

• Where underperformance has been recognised in a maintained school, 
proactively work with the relevant RSC, combining local and regional expertise to 
ensure the right approach, including sending warning notices and using 
intervention powers where this will improve leadership and standards; and  

• Encourage good and outstanding maintained schools to take responsibility for 
their own improvement; support other schools; and enable other schools to 
access the support they need to improve.  

We recently implemented changes to ensure that, in delivering these core improvement 
activities, councils receiving this grant are supporting educational recovery from the 
pandemic, and to also adjust the overall value of the Grant to reflect the reduced number 
of schools for which councils are now responsible.  

Additional improvement services 

Since 2017 councils have also been permitted, with the agreement of their local schools 
forum, to de-delegate funding from their schools’ budget shares, to fund the provision of 
additional improvement services. These are activities that go above and beyond their core 
improvement activities, and may include, for example, providing or funding access to 
improvement support. Many councils will also provide additional improvement and other 
services to schools on a traded basis, where school leaders choose to buy in services 
provided by the council. 

Proposal and rationale 
The current funding arrangements for council school improvement activity presume that 
there is a clear distinction between core improvement activities, for which the Grant is 
provided, and additional activity, which councils fund through de-delegation or as a traded 
service. We believe this distinction no longer reflects the reality of how effective councils 
operate. 

Rather, we believe that, in practice, activity connected to their core improvement activities 
forms part of a continuum of wider improvement activity that councils may choose to 
undertake. This is understandable: councils will want to act before performance 
deteriorates significantly and formal intervention becomes an inevitability, for example, 
by putting in place arrangements to spot signs of potential underperformance early and 
challenge it; and only moving on to formal intervention through warning notices and 
further intervention powers where this hasn’t worked and performance has deteriorated. 

Page 29



7 

In that context, and taken together with the Secretary of State’s responsibility to convert 
the poorest performing maintained schools (that Ofsted has judged ‘Inadequate’) into 
academies (for which the council is no longer responsible), it is unsurprising that whilst 
the vast majority of councils continue to spend the full value of the Grant, instances of 
councils exercising their intervention powers remain relatively low. This is reflected for 
example in the number of warning notices issued by councils – with less than 1 in 51 
councils issuing a warning notice in each of the last 3 years. In turn, this implies that the 
Grant is predominantly used on early challenge and support in cases of potential 
underperformance, rather than use of formal intervention powers. 

We recognise that councils are best placed to determine how to fulfil their core 
improvement activities but, as a result, we believe there is a strong case to reflect this 
reality in reformed funding arrangements for councils’ improvement functions.  

To achieve this, we are consulting on proposals to remove the Grant and enable all 
improvement activity, including that provided in connection with their core improvement 
activities, to be funded in the same way via de-delegation from schools’ budget shares.  

We see a number of benefits to this: 

• It will remove the distinction set out above, which does not reflect the reality of 
how effective councils operate.  

• In line with our drive towards a school-led improvement system, it will put more 
decisions about improvement provision to schools into the hands of school 
leaders (via schools forums). With an average uplift in next year’s provisional 
core school funding allocations of 3.2%, as the beneficiaries of improvement 
support from councils, we believe it is right that they contribute to the cost of such 
support but, in turn, they should have greater influence over the activity 
undertaken.  

• It will bring funding arrangements for councils’ improvement activity closer into 
line with the relationship between individual academies and their MATs, which 
normally top-slice funding to secure improvement support; and support our 
overarching policy of ensuring maintained schools and academies are funded on 
an equivalent basis. In turn, this will help to deliver a core aim of the National 
Funding Formula (NFF), which is to support a more school-based system that 
allows schools maximum control over their funding.  

• It will also enable councils to adjust over time to the government’s longer-term 
ambition for all schools to become academies within a strong MAT – an end point 

 
 

1 According to data held by Ofsted 

Page 30



8 

which a number of councils are already closing in on, where councils would no 
longer maintain schools. We believe that moving at this time to funding these 
responsibilities via de-delegation, in the same way that councils fund additional 
improvement services they provide to maintained schools, will provide a 
smoother transition for councils in this position. 

We propose to effect this change through, (1) removing the Grant over the course of FY 
2022-23, and (2) including provision in the School and Early Years Finance (England) 
Regulations for FY 2022-23 which would allow councils to de-delegate for all 
improvement expenditure, including all core improvement activities. This consultation 
seeks views on the impact of both these proposals. In addition, this consultation asks how 
we can update government guidance to support these changes.  

Proposal 1: Removing the Grant 
We believe the distinction our current funding arrangements effectively make – providing 
an additional grant to councils to support core improvement activities, with additional 
improvement services funded via de-delegation and traded services - no longer reflects 
the reality of how councils deliver improvement support to maintained schools, with formal 
intervention in reality only a small part at the end of a continuum of challenge and support 
provided by councils. This means funding to support core improvement activities and 
formal intervention overlaps with wider improvement provision in a way which creates a 
disparity with how improvement provision is funded in MATs. 

Subject to the outcome of this consultation, we are proposing that the Grant would 
therefore be ended with effect from the start of FY 2023-24, phased so that it would be 
reduced to 50% of the current amount on a per school basis in FY 2022-23 to give 
councils and maintained schools time to adjust to these new arrangements. 

Going forward, in fulfilling their responsibilities for the schools they maintain, councils will 
continue to be able to draw on wider improvement support that the Department for 
Education (‘the Department’) makes available at low or no cost, including our network of 
curriculum and behaviour hubs, Teaching School Hubs, National Professional 
Qualifications providers, Early Career Framework reforms, and our offer of funded 
support from a National Leader of Education for any school that Ofsted judge ‘requires 
improvement’. 

Proposal 2: Including provisions in the School and Early 
Years Finance (England) Regulations to enable councils to 
fund all core improvement activities via de-delegation 
We recognise that, as well as those improvement functions which MATs undertake for 
academies, part of a council’s core functions will continue to be to exercise its statutory 

Page 31



9 

intervention powers as appropriate over maintained schools, for which councils cannot 
currently de-delegate. While instances of councils exercising their statutory intervention 
powers remain relatively low, we do intend to ensure they remain adequately funded for 
this, as well as their other improvement functions. 

Paragraph 8 in Schedule 1 to the School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 
(the Regulations) that apply to FY2021-22 currently prohibits councils from using 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funding for expenditure connected to their statutory 
improvement functions under Part 4 of the 2006 Act. Paragraph 54 in Part 6 of Schedule 
2 to the Regulations currently permits councils to de-delegate expenditure on 
improvement “that is not required by Part 4 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006” 
from schools’ budget shares, with the agreement of their local schools forum or the 
Secretary of State. 

From FY 2022-23, we propose to give councils the power in the Regulations to fund all 
improvement activities, including their core improvement activities, via de-delegation of 
funds from schools’ budget shares, with the agreement of their local schools forum or the 
Secretary of State. 

In practice, we propose doing this by omitting the existing provisions in paragraph 8 in 
Schedule 1 and paragraph 54 in Part 6 of Schedule 2 of the Regulations from the 
Regulations for FY2022-23, and including a new provision in Part 7 of Schedule 2 – items 
that may be removed from maintained schools’ budget shares (primary, secondary and 
special schools, and pupil referral units) – permitting councils to deduct expenditure 
incurred for the purposes of improvement, including that required by the council’s 
functions under Part 4 of the 2006 Act, from schools’ budget shares, with the agreement 
of their schools forum or the Secretary of State. 

In line with other de-delegation decisions, the Secretary of State would retain the power 
to approve the de-delegation contrary to the decision of the schools forum, if satisfied that 
the council had demonstrated such de-delegation was necessary to ensure the council is 
adequately funded to exercise core improvement activities.  

As set out above, this would support our overarching responsibility to ensure maintained 
schools and academies funding arrangements are more closely aligned; and would 
provide a smoother transition as more schools become academies and move out of 
council control.  

Making this change would also align with the proposed reforms to the NFF on which the 
government has recently consulted. That consultation proposed reviewing central school 
services with a view towards retaining funding by central grant as part of the Central 
School Services Block where responsibilities are to all schools, and de-delegating central 
functions that are provided only in support of maintained schools. The Department plans 
to consult further as part of the review of which council functions should remain 
discharged by the council or move to be de-delegated or traded. 

Page 32

https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/completing-our-reforms-to-the-nff/supporting_documents/Fair%20Funding%20For%20All%20Consultation.pdf


10 

Clarifying guidance provided to councils with respect to 
school improvement 
As part of these changes, we would also intend to update guidance provided to councils 
with respect to their improvement activities in maintained schools, to ensure guidance 
reflects these new funding arrangements.   

We are therefore keen to use this opportunity to seek views on where guidance can 
usefully be clarified to aid understanding of what councils are accountable for with respect 
to improvement, where these activities can be scaled in response to need, and the scope 
for councils and schools’ forums to agree how these responsibilities are carried out and 
funded. For example, we are keen for views on how we might best update our Schools 
Causing Concern guidance.  

Timeline 
Subject to the outcome of this consultation, our proposed timeline would be to make 
these changes to the School and Early Years Finance Regulations for FY 2022-23, 
allowing for a phased removal of the Grant over the course of FY 2022-23 – at the end 
of which it would be expected that all council school improvement activity, including core 
improvement activities, will be funded via de-delegation, with any non-statutory services 
which councils choose to continue to offer either provided on a traded basis or also 
funded through de-delegation.    

Table 1 Proposed timeline for implementation 

Date Proposal 

October 2021 Government consultation launched on proposals for reforming 
how councils’ improvement functions are funded. 

December 2021 / 
early January 2022 

Government publishes its response to the consultation, 
confirming its intentions.  

December 2021 / 
January 2021 

Councils agree de-delegation for FY 2022-23 with their schools 
forums. 
Provisions made within the School and Early Years Finance 
(England) Regulations allowing councils to de-delegate to fund 
all improvement activity, including core improvement activities, 
from FY 2022-23 onward.  
Amendments made to relevant government guidance relating 
to council school improvement activity. 

By April 2022 School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2022-
23 come into effect, allowing councils to de-delegate for all 
council school improvement functions. 

April 2022 The Grant is reduced by 50% on a per school basis. 

Page 33



11 

Date Proposal 

April 2023 The Grant is removed entirely. 

 
  

Page 34



12 

Questions 
 
Question 1: We believe that instances of councils exercising formal intervention powers 
remain relatively low, and that since its introduction, this grant has primarily supported 
improvement functions such as early support and challenge to improve individual school 
performance, which overlaps with wider (non-core) improvement provision.  

Do you agree that this is the case? If not, please explain. 

 

Question 2: We are proposing to (i) remove the Grant (Proposal 1), and (ii) enable 
councils to de-delegate funds via their schools forum to ensure they are sufficiently 
funded to exercise all of their improvement activities, including all core improvement 
activities (Proposal 2). 
 
Do you agree that, taken together, these proposals will allow councils to continue to 
ensure they are adequately funded for core improvement activities; and therefore do not 
impose a new burden? If not, please explain. 

 
Question 3: Bearing in mind Proposals 1 and 2, are there any aspects of our guidance 
to councils on their role in school improvement which could usefully be clarified to aid 
understanding of what councils are accountable for with respect to improvement and 
how it should be funded? (For example, our Schools Causing Concern guidance.) 

 
Question 4: The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires that public bodies 
consider the potential effects of key decisions on groups with protected characteristics. 
The relevant protected characteristics for the purposes of the PSED are: sex; race; 
disability; religion or belief; sexual orientation; pregnancy or maternity; gender 
reassignment; and age. 

Please let us know, providing evidence where possible, if you believe any of the 
proposals set out in this consultation will have the potential to have an impact on 
specific groups, in particular those with relevant protected characteristics. 

Page 35



13 

  

© Crown copyright 2021 

This document/publication (not including logos) is licensed under the terms of the Open 
Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. Where we have identified any 
third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright 
holders concerned. 

To view this licence: 
visit  www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3 
email  psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk 
write to Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London, TW9 4DU 

About this publication: 
enquiries   www.education.gov.uk/contactus 
download  www.gov.uk/government/consultations  

 

  
Follow us on Twitter: 
@educationgovuk  

Like us on Facebook: 
facebook.com/educationgovuk 

 

Page 36

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?keywords=&publication_filter_option=consultations&departments%5B%5D=department-for-education&commit=Refresh+results
http://twitter.com/educationgovuk
http://www.facebook.com/educationgovuk


Schools causing 
concern 
Guidance for local authorities and 
Regional Directors on how to work with 
schools to support improvements to 
educational performance, and on using 
their intervention powers 

October 2022

Page 37



2 

Contents 
Key principles 5 

Introduction of new powers in schools that are not making necessary improvements 6 

Summary 9 

About this guidance 9 

Effective from date 9 

Expiry or review date 10 

What legislation does this guidance refer to? 10 

Who is this guidance for? 10 

Terminology 11 

Chapter 1: Introduction 14 

Chapter 2: Maintained schools ‘eligible for intervention’ 17 

Warning notices in maintained schools 17 

Teachers’ pay and conditions warning notices 21 

Issuing a warning notice to a maintained school 22 

Actions local authorities and RDs may take in maintained schools that have failed to 
comply with a warning notice 23 

Maintained schools judged Inadequate by Ofsted 23 

Maintained schools that are not making necessary improvements 25 

Chapter 3: Specific powers of local authorities and the Secretary of State in maintained 
schools eligible for intervention 29 

Local authority and Secretary of State powers to require the governing body to enter 
into arrangements 30 

Local authority and Secretary of State powers to appoint additional governors 31 

Local authority and Secretary of State powers to appoint an Interim Executive Board 
(IEB) 32 

Page 38



   

3 

Power of the local authority to suspend the delegated authority for the governing body 
to manage a maintained school’s budget 35 

Power of the Secretary of State to direct a local authority on the appointment of interim 
executive members 35 

Power of the Secretary of State to take over responsibility for interim executive 
members 36 

Power of the Secretary of State to direct the closure of a maintained school 36 

Power of the Secretary of State to make an academy order 37 

Power of the Secretary of State to revoke an academy order 39 

Chapter 4: Academies causing concern 41 

Academies judged Inadequate 42 

Academies that are not making necessary improvements 43 

Financial intervention in academies 46 

Chapter 5: Other local authority duties 47 

School performance 47 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 48 

Alternative Provision 49 

Safeguarding 49 

Chapter 6: Governance 51 

Additional non-statutory guidance relating to local authority oversight of governance in 
maintained schools 51 

Schools causing concern and charity law 52 

Chapter 7: Pupil referral Units 54 

Pupil referral units not making necessary improvements 55 

Further sources of information 58 

Legislation 58 

Page 39



   

4 

Guidance 58 

 

 

Page 40



   

5 

 Key principles 
The Government’s 2019 Manifesto sets out the intention to intervene in schools where 
there is entrenched underperformance. The vast majority of schools in England are 
judged Good or Outstanding by Ofsted. However, in some areas a significant number of 
schools do not reach that standard. As part of the Government’s commitment to levelling 
up, we have announced plans for Education Investment Areas (EIAs).1 EIAs are 55 Local 
Authorities in England where school outcomes are the weakest. A key element of those 
plans is to ensure that schools that have been judged less than Good in their two most 
recent Ofsted inspections can benefit from the support of a strong multi-academy trust. 
By focusing school intervention in the areas that need it most, the new EIAs will help to 
deliver on the Manifesto commitment. 

The Secretary of State has chosen to update the existing coasting schools regulations so 
that schools judged less than Good in their two most recent Ofsted inspections will now 
be covered by the coasting definition. Schools that meet this definition are referred to in 
this guidance as schools that are not making necessary improvements  

Schools that are not making necessary improvements will be eligible for intervention 
action to support them to improve. Once eligible, the relevant Regional Director (RDs, 
formally known as regional schools commissioners) will assess each school on a case by 
case basis and take into account any representations a maintained school’s governing 
body and local authority or an academy’s trust and, where relevant, the religious body, 
wish to make, before deciding whether intervention and further support are necessary. 
The Secretary of State’s policy is that this support can generally best be provided by 
ensuring that all schools with consecutive less than ‘Good’ judgements are part of a 
strong multi-academy trust. Further details on how we may intervene to promote high 
standards in schools not making necessary improvements can be found on pages 6 - 8 of 
this guidance and in chapters 2, 3, 4 and 7. 

The department remains committed to providing a clear and simple accountability system 
for schools.2 To provide clarity for schools, we have set out below how accountability will 
now operate in light of the introduction of the new intervention measure. In practice this 
means that:  

• RDs (formally known as regional schools commissioners)3 will only 
mandate academy conversion, leadership change or academy trust transfer 
of a school in relation to educational standards if Ofsted has judged it 

 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/package-to-transform-education-and-opportunities-for-most-
disadvantaged  
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/principles-for-a-clear-and-simple-school-accountability-
system  
3 Acting for and on behalf of the Secretary of State.  

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/package-to-transform-education-and-opportunities-for-most-disadvantaged
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/package-to-transform-education-and-opportunities-for-most-disadvantaged
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/principles-for-a-clear-and-simple-school-accountability-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/principles-for-a-clear-and-simple-school-accountability-system


   

6 

Inadequate, or if the school has met the new coasting definition (Schools 
that are not making necessary improvements) and the relevant RD has 
assessed that the school would benefit from such interventions.  

• RDs will not use warning notices on the grounds of low standards of pupil 
performance apart from in exceptional circumstances. 

• RDs will not conduct uninvited visits to schools. 

• High quality, effective governance is key to the success of any school. As 
such, the department is committed to ensuring robust governance in all 
schools. Where breakdowns in governance occur, the RD and Education 
and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) will continue to use their powers to hold 
schools to account for their governance and financial management 
regardless of the school’s Ofsted rating. Both maintained schools and 
academies will be held to account equally and RDs will continue to 
challenge underperformance in both types of school.    

• Unless a school is subject to intervention action or is run by a single 
academy trust, RDs will continue to approach academy trusts, local 
authorities and (in the case of schools with a religious character) the 
relevant religious body, rather than individual schools. 

 

Introduction of new powers in schools that are not making necessary 
improvements  

In order to promote high standards in schools and support the government’s levelling up 
agenda, the Secretary of State has introduced a new intervention measure from 1st  
September 2022.  

The new measure applies to a school if: 

• The school’s overall effectiveness at its most recent Ofsted inspection under 
section 5 of the Education Act 2005 was ‘Requires Improvement’ (RI), and  

• The school’s overall effectiveness was also below Good at the inspection 
under section 5 of the Education Act 2005 immediately before the most recent 
inspection. 

The measure applies to mainstream maintained schools and academies; pupil referral 
units (PRUs) and AP academies; and maintained special schools and special academies. 
It does not apply to 16 – 19 providers or to maintained nursery schools. In any 
circumstances where a PRU, AP academy, maintained special school or special 

Page 42



   

7 

academy is assessed for suitability for intervention, extra consideration will be given to 
identifying the most suitable course of action and sponsor in relation to each school’s 
specific context. 

The power to intervene in schools not making necessary improvements is discretionary 
and so once eligible, the relevant RD will assess each school on a case by case basis.  
The RD will take into account any representations a maintained school’s governing body 
and local authority or an academy’s trust and, where relevant, the religious body, wish to 
make, before deciding whether intervention and further support are necessary. 

RDs will begin to consider intervention action in schools not making necessary 
improvements from the autumn term 2022. RDs will only consider taking action in 
schools with 2, 3 or 4 consecutive less than ‘Good’ judgments where they have had their 
most recent Ofsted inspection under Section 5 of the Education Act 2005 since 1 May 
2021. Schools which have a long-term history of underperformance (5 or more 
consecutive Ofsted judgments of less than ‘Good’) may be considered for intervention 
regardless of the date of their last Ofsted inspection.  

RDs will not intervene in relation to an academy that has not yet received a graded 
inspection under section 5 of the Education Act 2005 in its current academy trust, other 
than in exceptional circumstances. For example, where there are wider concerns about 
the capacity and capability of the academy trust. 

Where an academy meeting the new coasting definition has had its first inspection in a 
trust following conversion or transfer and has improved from ‘Inadequate’ to ‘Requires 
Improvement’, the RD will write to the trust confirming that the academy meets the 
definition, but will normally also notify the trust that no further action will be taken at 
present in view of the improvement. RDs will continue to monitor the academy and may 
take action if the academy does not continue to improve. 

In February 2022, the Department identified 55 Education Investment Areas (EIAs). It is 
the Department’s priority to intervene in these areas where standards are poorest to 
improve standards, bringing in our strongest academy trusts so that underperforming 
schools can access the support they need to improve. RDs will initially concentrate 
consideration of intervention in schools that are not making necessary improvements that 
are within one of the EIAs. However, schools outside these areas that are not making 
necessary improvements may also benefit from the support of a strong multi-academy 
trust and so RDs will consider intervention in schools elsewhere.  

Further information about the location and selection of Education Investment Areas can 
be found here. 

The Secretary of State’s powers to intervene in schools not making necessary 
improvements come from the legislation on ‘coasting schools’, and the definition of 

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-investment-areas-selection-methodology


   

8 

‘coasting’ in regulations has been updated to capture underperforming schools, as 
defined above4. A reference in this guidance to ‘schools not making necessary 
improvements’ should be read as meaning that such schools have met the proposed new 
statutory definition of ‘coasting’. 

The actions an RD may take with schools not making necessary improvements may 
differ, depending on whether the school is an academy or a maintained school or PRU. 
The actions RDs can take are described in the relevant chapters of this guidance 
(chapter 3 for maintained schools, chapter 4 for academies, and chapter 7 for PRUs). 

 

4 Section 60B of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (inserted by section 1(3) of the Education and 
Adoption Act 2016 (c.6)); and section 2B(6) of the Academies Act 2010 (inserted by section 14 of the 
Education and Adoption Act 2016.)  

Page 44



   

9 

Summary 

About this guidance 

This is statutory guidance for local authorities given by the Department for Education, on 
behalf of the Secretary of State. Section 72 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 
places a statutory duty on all local authorities in England, in exercising their functions in 
respect of maintained schools causing concern, to have regard to any guidance given 
from time to time by the Secretary of State.  

This guidance covers:  

• maintained “schools causing concern” (within the meaning of section 44 of the 
Education Act 2005); 

• maintained schools that are “eligible for intervention” (within the meaning of Part 4 
of the Education Act 2006);  

• other maintained schools about which the local authority and/or Secretary of State 
have serious concerns which need to be addressed5; and 

• academies causing concern.  

It sets out the factors local authorities and RDs will consider, and the process they will 
follow in order to decide the right approach to supporting a school to improve.  

The Secretary of State’s powers in this area are exercised by RDs who are expected to 
follow this guidance. For the purpose of this guidance, it will generally be the RD who is 
referred to as using the Secretary of State’s described powers. 

This guidance primarily sets out how local authorities and RDs will intervene at a school 
level. RDs will always approach academy trusts and in the case of schools with a 
religious character, the relevant religious body, not individual schools, about academy 
trusts’ leadership and oversight of their schools. 

Effective from date 

This guidance is effective from 1st September 2022.   

 

5 Powers of intervention regarding Pupil Referral Units are included in the alternative provision statutory 
guidance: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alternative-provision  

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alternative-provision


   

10 

Expiry or review date 

This guidance will be kept under review and updated as necessary. 

What legislation does this guidance refer to? 

• School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

• Education Act 2002, including Schedule 2 

• Education Act 2005 

• Education and Inspections Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act”) 

• Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act, 2009 (which amends the 2006 
Act) 

• The School Governance (Transition from an Interim Executive Board) (England) 
Regulations 2010 (“Transition Regulations”) 

• Academies Act 2010 

• Education Act 2011 (which amends the 2006 Act, and Schedule 14) 

• Children and Families Act 2014 

• Education and Adoption Act 2016 (which amends the 2006 Act and the 
Academies Act 2010) 

• The Coasting Schools (England) Regulations 2022 

Who is this guidance for? 

• Local authorities, who must have regard to it as statutory guidance on how they 
use their powers of intervention in their maintained schools. 
 

• RDs, who will be expected to follow this document as guidance on how they will 
exercise the Secretary of State’s powers of intervention in maintained schools 
causing concern and on how they will take formal action in academies causing 
concern. 
 

Page 46



   

11 

• Dioceses, school foundations, governing bodies of maintained schools and 
academy trusts will also want to be aware of this guidance and the implications for 
their schools. 
 

• Others, such as headteachers, school/ academy trust staff, parents and carers, 
who may find it useful.  

Terminology  

Maintained schools and academies  

Throughout this guidance, “maintained schools” means local authority maintained 
schools including maintained special schools (and is not referring to academies). Where 
this guidance refers to “academies” this should be taken to include free schools, studio 
schools and University Technical Colleges (but is not referring to maintained schools). 
Where the guidance refers to “schools”, this indicates it applies to both maintained 
schools and academies. 

Standalone academy  

In this guidance a ‘standalone academy’ means any academy that is run by a single 
academy trust (SAT) or is the only school in a multi-academy trust (MAT).6 

Pupil referral units  

Pupil referral units (PRU) are maintained by the local authority, but are not included 
within the definition of a ‘maintained school’. Chapter 7 gives further advice on the 
Secretary of State’s intervention powers in PRUs. 

Schools with a religious character  

As set out in the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 (SSFA 1998), a school with 
a religious character is any school that has been designated as such by an order made 
by the Secretary of State7.  

Trustees of the School 

 

6 In the past some MATs were set up with only a single school in the expectation that additional schools 
would join in the future.  
7 Section 69 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. 

Page 47



   

12 

The trustees of the school are the members of the foundation which established the 
school. In foundation schools or voluntary schools, the trustees are therefore the 
members of the foundation which established the school. 

For schools and academies with a religious character the trustee would be the: 

• Church of England 

• Catholic Church 

• other religious bodies  

Academy trustee  

An academy trustee refers to those who sit on the board of an academy trust. The 
academy trust board is the decision-making body of the academy trust and is 
accountable and responsible for the academy in the academy trust. Academy trustees 
are both the charity trustees and company directors of the academy trust. 

In Church academies however, those on the board are referred to as ‘directors’ and the 
term ‘trustees’ is reserved for those on the board of the separate trust that owns the land. 

Charity trustee  

The academy trustees are also charity trustees8.  

In foundation and voluntary schools the governing body (a corporate body created under 
the SSFA 1998) is a charity and the governors are its charity trustees. Some foundation 
schools have a separate charity as a foundation which holds the title to the land and 
buildings on trust for the provision of the school. The members of the trust are the 
trustees of the foundation and are also charity trustees. 

The duties of charity trustees in relation to schools causing concern are set out in chapter 
6 of this guidance.    

Schools that are not making necessary improvements 

Throughout this guidance, we use the term ‘school not making necessary improvements’ 
where schools meet the following criteria: 

• the school’s overall effectiveness at its most recent Ofsted inspection under 
section 5 of the Education Act 2005 was Requires Improvement (RI), and  

 

8 See s.177 of the Charities Act 2011 which defines a charity trustee as ‘the persons having the general 
control and management of the administration of a charity’. 

Page 48



   

13 

• the school’s overall effectiveness was also below Good at the inspection under 
Section 5 immediately prior to the most recent such inspection 

From 1 September 2022, the Secretary of State will have powers to intervene in these 
schools, by virtue of the legislation on ‘coasting’ schools. The definition of ‘coasting’ in 
regulations has been amended to match the definition of ‘schools that are not making 
necessary improvements’ given above. A reference in this guidance to schools that are 
not making necessary improvements should be read as meaning that such schools have 
met the statutory definition of ‘coasting’. 

 

 

Page 49



   

14 

Chapter 1: Introduction 
We are building a supportive schools’ culture in which local authorities and RDs work 
with school leaders to drive school improvement for the benefit of pupils and parents. At 
the same time, it is essential that action is taken wherever a school is judged 
Inadequate, is not making necessary improvements, or where there is financial 
mismanagement or failure of governance. Interventions are about acting decisively to 
address underperformance and financial or governance failures and helping schools to 
deliver the best outcomes for their pupils.  

This guidance describes the processes local authorities and RDs may take in schools 
that are eligible for intervention within the meaning of Part 4 of the Education and 
Inspections 2006 Act. These include: 

1. Schools that have failed to comply with a warning notice – Local authorities 
may give warning notices to their maintained schools where they have concerns 
about unacceptable educational performance, a breakdown in leadership and 
governance, or where the safety of pupils or staff may be being threatened. RDs 
may give a warning notice to a maintained school where they have concerns 
about a breakdown in leadership and governance, or where the safety of pupils 
or staff may be being threatened. Where a maintained school does not comply 
with a warning notice, it will become eligible for formal intervention. The warning 
notice process for maintained schools is described in more detail in Chapter 2 of 
this guidance.  

2. Schools that have been judged Inadequate by Ofsted – An academy order 
must, in line with statutory requirements, be issued for all maintained schools 
that have been judged Inadequate by Ofsted, requiring them to become 
sponsored academies. When an academy is judged Inadequate by Ofsted, the 
RD is able to terminate the funding agreement with the existing academy trust 
and move the academy to a new academy trust. The process for schools judged 
Inadequate by Ofsted is described in more detail in Chapter 2 (maintained 
schools) and Chapter 4 (academies) of this guidance. 

3. Schools that are not making necessary improvements – RDs may intervene 
in a school that has met the following criteria:  

• the school’s overall effectiveness at its most recent Ofsted inspection 
under section 5 of the Education Act 2005 was Requires Improvement (RI), 
and  

• the school’s overall effectiveness was also below Good at the inspection 
under Section 5 immediately prior to the most recent such inspection 

Page 50



   

15 

The power to intervene in schools not making necessary improvements is 
discretionary and so once eligible, the relevant RD will assess each school on a 
case by case basis before deciding whether intervention and further support are 
necessary. RDs will only consider taking action in schools with 2, 3 or 4 
consecutive less than Good judgments if they have received their most recent 
full Ofsted inspection since 1 May 2021. Schools where there is a long-term 
history of underperformance (5 or more consecutive below ‘Good’ judgements) 
may be considered for intervention regardless of the date of their last Ofsted 
inspection.  

This guidance is statutory for local authorities, and sets out their role in relation to 
maintained schools that are causing concern. It also describes how RDs will exercise the 
Secretary of State’s powers to intervene in maintained schools, and how they will take 
action in academies that are causing concern.9  

The specific statutory powers of local authorities and RDs to intervene in maintained 
schools are described in Chapter 4 of this guidance. Other local authority duties are set 
out in Chapter 6. 

RDs will address underperformance in academies on behalf of the Secretary of State as 
described in Chapter 4 of this guidance. Any further arrangements for addressing 
concerns in academies are set out in each academy’s funding agreement. 

This guidance describes the roles and responsibilities of local authorities and RDs, and 
how they will work with others in the school system to ensure underperformance, 
financial mismanagement or governance failure is challenged and schools are supported 
to improve. This includes, academy trusts, governing bodies, foundation trusts, the 
relevant religious bodies and the trustees of the school.  

The Government is committed to protecting the ethos of schools with a religious 
character, and RDs will ensure that their intervention arrangements safeguard the 
religious character and ethos of such schools, working closely with the relevant religious 
body. For all Church of England and Catholic schools, this guidance should be read 
alongside the relevant Memorandum of Understanding10, which describes in further detail 
how RDs and dioceses will work together to address underperformance concerns in 
those schools. 

Where any school is run by charity trustees (as is the case in academies, foundation and 
voluntary schools) or is on land held by the trustees of the school, local authorities and 

 

9 More information about RDs, how they operate and how they are supported by their Headteacher Boards 
can be found here: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-group  
10 More information about the memoranda of understanding can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/church-schools-and-academies-memoranda-of-understanding 

Page 51

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-group
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/church-schools-and-academies-memoranda-of-understanding


   

16 

the Secretary of State will, in using their powers of intervention, have regard to charity 
law and the responsibilities of the various trustees. This is described further in Chapter 6. 

When considering whether to take intervention action in a school, RDs will take into 
account published attendance data (where available) alongside all other relevant 
information.11 

 

 

11 More information on how the department will use attendance data can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-school-attendance  

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-school-attendance


   

17 

Chapter 2: Maintained schools ‘eligible for 
intervention’ 
This chapter explains how a maintained school may become ‘eligible for intervention’ 
within the meaning of part 4 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. A maintained 
school will be ‘eligible for intervention’ if it: 

• Has failed to comply with a warning notice; and/or 

• Is judged Inadequate by Ofsted; and/or 
 

• Has met the definition of a school not making necessary improvements and the 
governing body been notified by the Secretary of State that it has been identified 
as such. 

Where a maintained school has become eligible for intervention, local authorities and 
RDs have specific powers they may use to bring about improvement. These powers are 
covered in more detail in chapter 3. Local authorities and RDs will exercise their 
discretion when deciding whether to use these powers.  

Warning notices in maintained schools  

Warning notices can be given to schools that are causing concern but are not currently 
eligible for intervention. Both RDs and local authorities may issue warning notices but 
there are differences in the circumstances under which they may be issued.   

Local authorities may issue warning notices to their maintained schools under the 
following circumstances:   

1. the standards of performance of pupils at the school are unacceptably low and are 
likely to remain so12; or 

2. there has been a serious breakdown in the way the school is managed or 
governed which is prejudicing, or likely to prejudice, such standards of 
performance; or 

3. The safety of pupils or staff at the school is threatened (whether by a breakdown 
of discipline or otherwise); or13 

 

12 Low performance standards are explained in further detail in Section 60(3) of the Education and 
Inspections 2006 Act 
13 Warning notices issued for unacceptably low performance, a breakdown in management or a threat to 
staff or pupil safety are named in legislation as ‘performance standards and safety warning notices’.   

Page 53



   

18 

4. The governing body have failed to comply with a provision of an order under 
section 122 of the Education Act 2002 (teachers' pay and conditions) that applies 
to a teacher at the school; or have failed to secure that the head teacher of the 
school complies with such a provision.14 

In general, RDs will only issue a warning notice to maintained schools under the following 
circumstances:  

1. Where there has been a serious breakdown in the way the school is managed or 
governed, which is prejudicing, or likely to prejudice, standards of performance; or 

2. Where the safety of pupils or staff at the school is threatened (whether by a 
breakdown of discipline or otherwise). 

Failure to comply with a warning notice will make a maintained school ‘eligible for 
intervention’ under Sections 60 and 60A of the 2006 Act.  Local authorities and RDs will 
use their discretion to decide whether the use of formal powers is necessary.  

Roles of local authorities and RDs 

Local authorities should use warning notices to hold their schools to account and should 
work together with RDs where they judge that a warning notice is necessary15. 

RDs will issue a warning notice on grounds other than low standards of pupil 
performance where, in the RD’s opinion, it is appropriate to act. Examples of this may 
include where the local authority has failed to act swiftly enough in a specific case, has 
generally not acted swiftly or robustly enough in the past, or lacks capacity to act. The 
Secretary of State’s power to issue a warning notice takes precedence over the local 
authority’s, so the RD can also act where the local authority issues a warning notice that 
the RD does not consider to be robust enough, or where the RD does not consider that 
the action required by a local authority warning notice is robust enough16.  

The local authority must give a copy of any warning notice they issue to the relevant RD; 
similarly, an RD must give a copy of any warning notice they issue to a maintained 
school to its local authority. 

In the case of a school with a religious character, the local authority or RD should raise 
concerns with the appropriate religious body at the earliest opportunity. RDs will continue 

 

14 Warning notices issued for these reasons are named in legislation as ‘Teachers’ pay and conditions 
warning notices’.  
15 Where action is needed urgently, for example where the safety of pupils or staff is threatened, the local 
authority may reasonably take action without having to wait to discuss the case with the RD beforehand. 
16 Section 60 (4A)-(4B) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, as inserted by the Education and 
Adoption Act 2016. 

Page 54



   

19 

to have regard to the Church memoranda of understanding when issuing a warning 
notice. 

Low standards of pupil performance 

The detail of what constitutes “low standards of performance” is set out in section 60(3) 
of the 2006 Act. Local authorities may continue to exercise their discretion when issuing 
warning notices on the grounds of low standards of pupil performance.  

RDs will only use the Secretary of State’s powers to issue warning notices to maintained 
schools on the grounds of low standards of pupil performance in exceptional 
circumstances. (The Secretary of State’s powers to issue warning notices to maintained 
schools on the grounds of low standards of pupil performance are separate from the 
powers to intervene in schools not making necessary improvements, as defined on page 
12 of this document.) 

RDs may continue to issue warning notices to maintained schools in situations where 
there has been a breakdown in financial management and/or governance or where the 
safety of staff or pupils is threatened. RDs may issue warning notices on these grounds 
regardless of the school’s Ofsted rating. Examples of the circumstances in which warning 
notices might be issued on these grounds are set out in the following sections.            

 
Breakdown in the way a maintained school is managed or governed 

Another ground for issuing a warning notice is that there has been a serious breakdown 
in the way the school is managed or governed, which is prejudicing, or is likely to 
prejudice, pupils’ standards of performance.  High quality and effective governance is key 
to the success of any school. As such, the department is committed to ensuring robust 
governance in all schools. Where a breakdown in governance occurs, the local authority 
and the RD will continue to use their powers to hold schools to account for their 
governance and financial management regardless of the school’s Ofsted rating. 

Local authorities (or RDs where, for example, a local authority has failed to act swiftly 
enough, either in a particular case or generally in the past, or lacks the capacity to do so) 
should identify additional support or consider issuing a warning notice to a maintained 
school where the governing body is failing to deliver one or more of its three core 
strategic roles resulting in a serious breakdown in the way the school is managed or 
governed. The decision to issue a warning notice would depend on the severity of the 
case. 

The core strategic roles of a governing body are to: 

1. Ensure clarity of vision, ethos and strategic direction; 

Page 55



   

20 

2. Hold the headteacher and Senior Leadership Team to account for the educational 
performance of the school and its pupils, and the performance management of 
staff; and 

3. Oversee the financial performance of the school and make sure its money is spent 
appropriately, and to secure value for money. 

Evidence that governors may be failing to deliver on one or more of these strategic roles 
could include, but is not restricted to:  

• evidence of poor financial management and oversight, such as consistent 
overspending of the school's budget beyond agreed thresholds.  

• high governor turnover;  

• a significant, unexplained change to their constitution;  

• the governing body having an excessive involvement in the day to day running of 
the school17;  

• lack of appropriate engagement with data. This might include, but is not limited to, 
data on pupil learning and progress, or staff recruitment; and/or 

• not sufficiently managing risks associated with strategic priorities and school 
improvement plans.  

These situations could all indicate a serious breakdown of management or governance 
that may prejudice standards. In such circumstances, the local authority (or RD) may 
investigate and, where appropriate, take action early by issuing a warning notice. 

In the case of a school with a religious character, we would expect the local authority or 
RD to raise concerns about governance with the appropriate religious body at the earliest 
opportunity and before any formal action is taken. 

Where a local authority (or RDs) have concerns about the quality of a maintained 
school’s governance, they may consider recommending that the school commissions an 
external review of governance, before considering more formal intervention. Guidance is 
available on commissioning and conducting such external reviews18.  

 

17 Governors should act in line with the 3 core functions of governance as set out in the governance 
handbook. Excessive involvement in the operational running of the school may impair a governor’s ability to 
carry out their role properly and in line with the 3 core functions of governance. More information on 
governance and the core functions can be found in the Governance Handbook in the ‘further sources of 
information’ section of this guidance.  
18 See under ‘Further sources of information’ for departmental guidance on governance reviews. 

Page 56



   

21 

The Governance Handbook19 provides further information about requirements and 
expectations of governors, and provides links to additional guidance, support and best 
practice. 

The safety of pupils or staff at a maintained school is threatened (whether by a 
breakdown of discipline or otherwise) 

Where local authorities or RDs are concerned that the safety of pupils or staff at a 
maintained school is threatened, whether by a breakdown of discipline or otherwise, they 
should issue a warning notice. We would expect local authorities to issue warning notices 
in these circumstances for schools they maintain, but RDs can act where local authorities 
fail to act swiftly or lack the capacity to do so. 

Local authorities and RDs should have regard to the statutory guidance on roles and 
responsibilities for safeguarding: ‘Keeping Children Safe in Education’ and ‘Working 
Together to Safeguard Children’20. The guidance makes clear what all education 
institutions (including academies and free schools) should do to safeguard children in 
their care. 

Teachers’ pay and conditions warning notices 

Under section 60A of the 2006 Act, local authorities have a power to issue a teachers’ 
pay and conditions warning notice to their maintained schools. Failure to comply or 
secure compliance with the notice within the specified period will mean that the school 
becomes eligible for intervention under sections 64-66 of the 2006 Act21 (addressed in 
more detail in Chapter 4). These powers must be used within a period of two months 
following the end of the compliance period specified in the teachers’ pay and conditions 
warning notice22. If the local authority fails to exercise these powers within this time, they 
can no longer be exercised and a new teachers’ pay and conditions warning notice must 
be given in order to do so. 

The Secretary of State does not have the power to (and therefore RDs may not) issue 
teachers’ pay and conditions warning notices. 

 

19 See ‘Further sources of information’ for link to the Governance Handbook. 
20 See ‘Further sources of information’ for link to safeguarding guidance  
21 These are the local authority’s powers to appoint additional governors (section 64), to provide for the 
governing body to consist of interim executive members (section 65) and to suspend the school’s right to a 
delegated budget (section 66). Chapter 3 of this guidance explains these intervention powers in more 
detail. 
22 These are the local authority’s powers to appoint additional governors (section 64) and to suspend the 
school’s right to a delegated budget (section 66). 

Page 57



   

22 

A local authority must send the RD a copy of any teachers’ pay and conditions warning 
notice it issues23. 

Issuing a warning notice to a maintained school 

Local authorities should work with RDs where they judge that a warning notice is 
necessary. Once it has been determined that a local authority or RD will issue a warning 
notice to a maintained school, they must give the notice in writing to the governing body 
of the school. The notice must set out: 

• the matters on which their concerns are based; 

• the action the governing body is required to take in order to address the concerns 
raised; 
 

• the period within which the governing body must comply or secure compliance 
with that action (the compliance period); and 
 

• the action the local authority or RD is minded to take (under one or more of 
sections 63 to 69 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 or otherwise) if the 
governing body does not take the required action. 

In addition to giving the governing body a warning notice, the local authority or RD must 
give a copy to the headteacher; and in the case of a Church of England school or a 
Roman Catholic school, the appropriate diocesan authority; and in the case of a 
foundation or voluntary school, the person who appoints the foundation governors24. 

A copy of a warning notice must also be given to the relevant RD copying in 
School.NOTIFICATIONS@education.gov.uk, when it is a local authority making it, or a 
copy must be given to the local authority, when it is the RD making it25. All warning 
notices must be copied to Ofsted at the time of issuing using the email address 
warningnotices@ofsted.gov.uk 

Warning notices issued to maintained schools by RDs will also be published online. 

If a local authority is notified that the RD has given a warning notice, the local authority 
may not give such a warning notice to the same maintained school without the RD’s 

 

23 Section 60A (6)(a) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, as inserted by the Education and Adoption 
Act 2016. 
24 Section 60(6) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, as amended by the Education and Adoption 
Act 2016. 
25 Section 60(6A)-(6B) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, as inserted by the Education and 
Adoption Act 2016. 

Page 58

mailto:School.NOTIFICATIONS@education.gov.uk
mailto:warningnotices@ofsted.gov.uk


   

23 

agreement. If the RD gives a warning notice, any earlier warning notice given to the 
same maintained school by the local authority will cease to have effect26. Whichever has 
given a warning notice should keep the other informed about what action the maintained 
school has taken to address the concern, whether they consider the school to have 
complied with the warning notice, and what, if any, interventions will be made as a result. 

Actions local authorities and RDs may take in maintained schools that 
have failed to comply with a warning notice 

When a governing body has failed to comply with a warning notice to the satisfaction of 
the RD or local authority within the compliance period, and the issuing local authority or 
RD has given reasonable written notice that they propose to intervene, a school is 
eligible for intervention and further action may be taken27. 

The local authority or RD must have specified in the warning notice what action they 
were minded to take if the governing body failed to comply.  

The powers in sections 63, 64, 66 and 66A of the 2006 Act28 must be exercised within a 
period of two months following the end of the compliance period. If the local authority or 
the RD fails to exercise these powers within this time, these powers can no longer be 
exercised and a new warning notice must be given in order to do so. 

Maintained schools judged Inadequate by Ofsted 

Schools that have been judged Inadequate are: 

1. any school Ofsted judges as requiring significant improvement (as addressed in 
section 61 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006)29; and 

2. any school Ofsted judges as requiring special measures (as addressed in section 
62 of the 2006 Act). 

 

26 Section 60(4A)-(4B) of the Education and Inspections Act, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 
2016. 
27 Section 60(1)(d) and 60A(1)(d) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 as amended by the Education 
and Adoption Act 2016. Chapter 3 of this guidance explains the intervention powers in more detail. 
28 These powers are as follows: Section 63 contains the power to require the governing body to enter into 
arrangements; Section 64 contains the power to appoint additional governors; Section 66 contains the 
power to suspend the delegated budget and Section 66A contains the Secretary of States power to require 
governing body to enter into arrangements.  
29 This is also known as a ‘serious weaknesses’ judgement by Ofsted. 

Page 59



   

24 

The Secretary of State has a duty30 to make an academy order in respect of any 
maintained school judged as Inadequate by Ofsted, to enable it to become an academy 
and receive additional support from a sponsor.   

The RD, acting on behalf of the Secretary of State, will take responsibility for ensuring 
that the maintained school becomes a sponsored academy as swiftly as possible, 
including identifying the most suitable academy trust and brokering the new relationship 
between that academy trust and the maintained school. Further details about academy 
orders are set out in Chapter 3 of this guidance. 

In the case of a foundation or voluntary school that is eligible for intervention and subject 
to an academy order, the RD is required to consult about the identity of the person with 
whom academy arrangements are being entered into (called “the academy trust” in this 
guidance) before entering into such arrangements. The RD will consult with the trustees 
of the school, the person or persons who appoint the foundation governors, and in the 
case of a school that has a religious character the appropriate religious body31. RDs will 
ensure that any arrangements will safeguard the religious character and ethos of these 
maintained schools32. 

If a maintained school is the subject of an academy order made under section 4(A1) or 
(1)(b) of the Academies Act 2010, the governing body and the local authority will be 
under a duty to facilitate the maintained school’s conversion into an academy by taking 
all reasonable steps towards that end. This means local authorities cannot charge for the 
costs associated with the conversion. During the interim period between a maintained 
school receiving an academy order and the school re-opening as an academy the local 
authority retains the responsibility for the school’s performance, including provision for 
school improvement. RDs can use the Secretary of State’s power to give the governing 
body or local authority a direction, or directions, to take specified steps for this purpose33. 
This can include requiring the governing body or local authority to prepare a draft of a 
scheme for the transfer of local authority-owned land that is no longer, or about to be no 
longer, used for the purposes of the school,34 or for the transfer of other assets from the 
local authority or governing body35. The RD is able to set a date by which these steps 
must be taken36.  If the RD has identified an academy trust to run that maintained school 
once it becomes an academy, and has notified the school of this, then the governing 

 

30 Section 4(A1) of the Academies Act 2010, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016. 
31 Section 5A of the Academies Act 2010, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016. 
32 RDs should have regard to the Church schools Memoranda of Understanding. A link to the memoranda 
can be found in the ’further sources of information’ section of this guidance.  
33 Section 5C of the Academies Act 2010, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016. 
34 Part 1 Schedule 1 to the Academies Act 2010. 
35 Section 8 Academies Act 2010. 
36 Section 5C of the Academies Act 2010, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016. 

Page 60



   

25 

body and the local authority must take all reasonable steps to facilitate that academy 
trust taking responsibility for the school. 

Once the RD has identified the academy trust for a maintained school that was rated 
Inadequate, that academy trust has a duty to communicate to parents information about 
their plans for improving that school, before it is converted into an academy37. This is 
described in more detail in Chapter 4. 

Where a maintained school was judged Inadequate by Ofsted before the Education and 
Adoption Act 2016 took effect, that school will also be required to become a sponsored 
academy. 

Maintained schools that are not making necessary 
improvements 

From 1st September 2022, the Secretary of State will have a discretionary power to 
intervene in maintained schools that are coasting (not making necessary improvements).  
 
Eligibility for intervention  
 
RDs will only notify maintained schools that they have met the definition of a school that 
is coasting (not making necessary improvements) and have 2,3 or 4 consecutive Ofsted 
judgments of less than Good if they have received their most recent Ofsted inspection 
under Section 5 of the Education Act 2005 since 01 May 2021. Schools where there is a 
long-term history of underperformance (5 or more consecutive less than Good Ofsted 
judgments) will be notified that they have met the definition of a school that is coasting 
(not making necessary improvements) regardless of the date of their last Ofsted 
inspection. 
 
Communication 
 
From the autumn term 2022 the RD (acting on behalf of the Secretary of State) will send 
a letter to the governing body of an eligible maintained school that is not making 
necessary improvements (as defined on page 12) notifying them that the school has met 
the new coasting definition. The effect of this letter is that the school becomes eligible for 
intervention. The RD will set out in the notification letter the likely timescales for further 
communication. Letters will be copied to the local authority and, where relevant, the 
religious body. 
 
In order to prioritise support in the areas that need it most, RDs will consider whether 

 

37 Section 5E of the Academies Act, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016. 

Page 61



   

26 

schools that are located in Education Investment Areas (EIAs) require intervention and 
further support first. From the autumn term 2022, all schools in EIAs notified that they are 
coasting (not making necessary improvements) will receive a second letter informing 
them that they are now eligible for intervention and the governing body will be invited to 
make representations. This letter will also be copied to the local authority and, where 
relevant, the religious body.  
 
Schools located outside of EIAs will be informed in their initial notification letter when to 
expect further correspondence. 
 
 
Process for intervention  
 
When a school becomes eligible for intervention, the RD will assess the capacity of the 
school to achieve rapid and sustained improvements and whether intervention should be 
recommended to support the school to improve. The RD will consider the school’s 
specific circumstances, including but not limited to: 
 

• Inspection evidence relating to the school and its predecessor institutions, in 
particular, evidence concerning the quality of leadership and management, 
including both graded inspections under section 5 of the Education Act 2005, and 
monitoring inspections under section 8 of the Education Act 2005; 
 

• the trajectory of school inspection outcomes and whether the RD has confidence 
that any initial improvements will continue without intervention; 
 

• Performance data and other quantitative information, where it is available; 
 

• The local context and any additional information provided by the school and Local 
Authority on receipt of notification of the school’s eligibility for intervention (and, 
where relevant, information provided by the relevant religious body ). 

 
When considering performance data, the RD will take into account the Department’s 
commitments around using performance data in response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. 
This includes a commitment not to use 2020 or 2021 assessment, test or exam results  
data to hold schools to account. When considering data based on results from 
assessment, tests or exams taken in academic year 2021/22 the RD will treat this data 
with caution, including using it only to compare a school’s results to the local or national 
averages for 21/22, not using it to compare two schools to each other, and not directly 

Page 62



   

27 

comparing 21/22 data to data from previous years.38   
 
The RD will also consult the relevant local authority and in the case of a foundation or 
voluntary school, the trustees of the school, the person or persons who appoint the 
foundation governors, and (in the case of a school that has a religious character) the 
appropriate religious body. When considering the use of intervention powers in Church 
schools, the RD will continue to have regard to the Church memoranda of understanding. 
 
It is the Secretary of State’s policy that all schools should be able to benefit from being 
part of a strong multi-academy trust. Therefore, there will be a presumption in favour of 
issuing the maintained school with an academy order so that it may join a strong multi-
academy trust unless exceptional circumstances apply.  The best course of action will 
always be informed by an assessment of the particular circumstances of the school, and 
the needs of its pupils. 
 
However, this presumption is rebuttable. There may be cases where the RD does not 
consider it necessary to issue an academy order to a maintained school not making 
necessary improvements. In each case, the particular circumstances of the school, and 
the needs of its pupils, will be assessed in the round, in order to establish the best course 
of action. 
 
In any circumstances where a maintained special school is assessed for suitability for 
intervention, extra consideration will be given to identifying the most suitable course of 
action and sponsor in relation to each school’s specific context. 
 
Where the RD decides to make an academy order, the RD, acting on behalf of the 
Secretary of State, will take responsibility for ensuring that the maintained school 
becomes a sponsored academy as swiftly as possible. Where schools have a religious 
character, the RD will ensure that the arrangements safeguard the religious character 
and ethos of the school, working closely with the appropriate religious body and having 
regard to the Church memoranda of understanding. Further details about academy 
orders are set out in Chapter 3 of this guidance. 
 
If a maintained school is the subject of an academy order made under section 4(A1) or 
(1)(b) of the Academies Act 2010, the governing body and the local authority will be 
under a duty to facilitate the maintained school’s conversion into an academy by taking 
all reasonable steps towards that end. More information on the duty to facilitate is given 
on page 24 of this guidance. 

 

38 For more information about how the department will use accountability performance data please visit:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-school-and-college-performance-
measures  

Page 63

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-school-and-college-performance-measures
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-school-and-college-performance-measures


   

28 

 
As set out in chapter 3 of this guidance, the Secretary of State will only revoke academy 
orders in exceptional circumstances and not just because a school’s Ofsted rating has 
improved. 
 

Page 64



   

29 

Chapter 3: Specific powers of local authorities and the 
Secretary of State in maintained schools eligible for 
intervention 
Local authorities and RDs will work closely and co-operatively to support improvement in 
maintained schools that are causing concern. Where a maintained school is eligible for 
intervention39 there are a number of statutory powers the local authority and the 
Secretary of State may use to support school improvement.  

The intervention powers in respect of local authorities are set out in sections 63-66 of 
the 2006 Act:  

Section 63 – power to require the governing body to enter into arrangements; 

Section 64 – power to appoint additional governors;  

Section 65 – power to appoint an interim executive board (IEB); 

Section 66 – power to suspend the delegated budget. 

The intervention powers in respect of the Secretary of State are set out in sections 66A-
69 and 70C of the 2006 Act and section 4 of the Academies Act 2010: 

Section 66A – power to require governing body to enter into arrangements; 

Section 67 – power to appoint additional governors; 

Section 68 – power to direct closure of a school; 

Section 69 – power to appoint an interim executive board (IEB); 

Section 70C – power to take over responsibility for an IEB; 

Section 4 Academies Act – power to make an academy order.40 

In accordance with section 70A of the 2006 Act41 the local authority must notify the 
relevant RD each time they intend to use their intervention powers, copying in 
School.NOTIFICATIONS@education.gov.uk 

 

39 As defined by section 60B of the Education and Inspection Act 2006, as inserted by the Education and 
Adoption Act 2016 
40 Or in the case of an Inadequate school, duty. 
41 As inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016.  

Page 65

mailto:School.NOTIFICATIONS@education.gov.uk


   

30 

Local authorities should obtain consent from the RD before appointing an Interim 
Executive Board (IEB).The RD will also notify the local authority before requiring the 
governing body to enter into arrangements, appointing additional governors, appointing 
an IEB42 or when the Secretary of State directs a local authority to close a maintained 
school.  

When a local authority has been notified that the RD intends to exercise the Secretary of 
State’s intervention powers in a maintained school, the local authority may not use its 
intervention powers in relation to that school until the RD notifies the local authority that it 
may do so43.  

This Chapter describes each power, the consultations the local authority or RD must 
make before exercising the power, and the parties they must notify when they are 
exercising the powers.  

Local authority and Secretary of State powers to require the 
governing body to enter into arrangements  

Sections 63 and 66A of the 2006 Act enable a local authority and RDs respectively, to 
require a maintained school that is eligible for intervention44 to enter into arrangements 
with a view to improving the performance of the school. A notice may require the 
maintained school: 

1. to enter into a contract or other arrangement for specified services of an 
advisory nature with a specified person (who may be the governing body of 
another school);  

2. to make arrangements to collaborate with the governing body of another 
school;  

3. to make arrangements to collaborate with a further education body; or 

4. to take specified steps for the purpose of creating or joining a federation. 

These arrangements could include support from a Teaching Schools Alliance or 
partnership with high performing local schools.  

 

42 Section 70A of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 
2016. 
43 Section 70B of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 
2016. 
44 Except a school that is eligible for intervention as the result of a teachers’ pay and conditions warning 
notice. 

Page 66



   

31 

Prior to requiring the governing body to enter into arrangements, the relevant body must 
consult the governing body of the school, the appropriate diocesan authority (in the case 
of a Church of England or Roman Catholic school) and in the case of any other 
foundation or voluntary school, the person or persons by whom foundation governors are 
appointed. There is no statutory time scale in which the consultation process is to be 
completed and time scales may vary depending on the circumstances of the case. We 
would expect a normal consultation process to last for a period of 10 (ten) days45.  

Local authority and Secretary of State powers to appoint 
additional governors 

Sections 64 and 67 of the 2006 Act enable a local authority and RDs respectively, to 
appoint additional governors where a maintained school is eligible for intervention. This 
will usually be used when they believe a school would benefit from additional expertise to 
support or strengthen existing governance arrangements.  

Before making any appointment, the RD must consult: 

1. the local authority; 

2. the governing body of the school; 

3. in the case of a Church of England school or a Roman Catholic 
school, the appropriate diocesan authority; and 

4. in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school, the person or persons 
by whom the foundation governors are appointed. 

There is no statutory time scale in which the consultation process is to be completed. We 
would expect a normal consultation process to have been carried out within 10 (ten) days 
but this may vary depending on the circumstances and urgency of the case.  

Where the RD has used this power, they may pay remuneration and allowances which 
they consider appropriate to any governor they appoint. Further, the local authority may 
not exercise their power to suspend the governing body's right to a delegated budget. 

Where the local authority appoints additional governors there is no requirement to 
consult. 

In the case of a voluntary aided school, where a local authority has used their power to 
appoint additional governors, the appropriate appointing authority may appoint a number 

 

45 Local authorities and RDs should be mindful of weekends, bank holidays and school holidays when 
deciding on the length of the consultation. 

Page 67



   

32 

of foundation governors equal to those appointed by the local authority, in order to 
preserve their majority. However, legislation provides that where the RD has used this 
power, the relevant appointing bodies are not authorised to appoint foundation governors 
for the purpose of outnumbering the other governors including those appointed by the 
RD46. 

Local authority and Secretary of State powers to appoint an 
Interim Executive Board (IEB)  

Section 65 of the 2006 Act enables the local authority to apply to the RD for consent to 
constitute the governing body of a maintained school as an IEB, and section 69 enables 
the RD to require the governing body of a maintained school to be constituted as an IEB. 
Both of these powers must be exercised in accordance with Schedule 6 of the 2006 Act.  

Local authorities and RDs should work together in circumstances where an IEB may be 
put in place. Local authorities and RDs should assess each individual case and decide 
who is best placed to implement and take responsibility for the IEB. RDs have the power 
to appoint additional members to a local authority IEB and, if necessary, take control of 
the IEB using the powers set out in this chapter.    

Consultation  

Before the local authority or the RD can use this power, they must consult: 

1. the local authority (only required when the RD is intervening); 

 

2. the governing body of the school; 

 

3. in the case of a Church of England school or a Roman Catholic school, the 
appropriate diocesan authority; and 

 

4. in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school, the person or persons 
that appoint the foundation governors. 

 

This requirement for the RD to consult the bodies in 2, 3 and 4 above does not apply if 
the local authority has already done so as part of their own proposal to appoint an IEB. 
There is no requirement for the RD to consult about appointing an IEB if an academy 

 

46 Section 67(6)(b) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

Page 68



   

33 

order has effect in respect of the maintained school47. In these circumstances the RD will 
give advance notice to those listed above that the governing body will be replaced by an 
IEB on a specified date. There is no statutory time scale in which the consultation 
process must be completed. It is likely that the time scale will vary depending on the 
circumstances in which the IEB is required. We would expect a normal consultation 
process to last for a period of 10 (ten) days48.  

Local authorities must use the IEB application form on the DfE website49 following the 
accompanying instructions. 

When the decision has been taken to appoint an IEB, the local authority or RD must write 
to the governing body to give them notice that the IEB will be established. This notice 
must specify a date when the IEB will commence and will usually also give a date when 
the IEB will cease, or an exit plan. 

Delegated budget 

An IEB has a right to a delegated budget. If the school’s budget has previously been 
withdrawn from the governing body, then the local authority must restore the budget from 
the date the IEB commences its work. If a notice to withdraw the right to a delegated 
budget was given to the original governing body specifying a date to do so, the notice 
will no longer be valid from the date of commencement of the IEB. 

The role and duties of the IEB  

The IEB’s function is to provide interim expertise and high-quality governance to support 
future improvement in the maintained school and this should include the promotion of 
high standards of educational achievement. 

While an IEB is in place, it qualifies as the governing body of the maintained school and 
any reference in the Education Acts to a governor or foundation governor applies to an 
interim executive member. During the interim period, the requirements concerning the 
governing body’s constitution set out in the School Governance (Constitution) (England) 
Regulations 2012 do not apply. 

The IEB will take on the responsibilities of a normally constituted governing body, 
including the management of the budget, curriculum, staffing, pay and performance 
management and the appointment of the headteacher and deputy headteacher. Where 
the school in question is a foundation or voluntary school, and the IEB members will also 

 

47 RDs should continue to have regard for both of the church MOUs. The MOUs require continuing 
engagement with the relevant diocese regardless of whether an academy order is in place.    
48 Local authorities and RDs should be mindful of weekends, bank holidays and school holidays when 
deciding on the length of the consultation. 
49 See under ‘Further sources of information’.  

Page 69



   

34 

be acting as charity trustees, the IEB members must carry out their duties under charity 
law – those duties are described further in Chapter 6 of this guidance. Any obligations on 
the governing body in relation to maintaining the religious ethos of a maintained school will 
also apply to the IEB.  

An IEB may recommend to a local authority that a maintained school be closed. It may 
also recommend that the Secretary of State give a direction to a local authority regarding 
the closure of a maintained school. It cannot however, publish proposals for closure 
itself. Where, following the statutory consultation and other procedures, it is agreed that 
the school will be closed, the IEB should continue to hold office until the implementation 
date of the proposal. The IEB may also seek an academy order from the Secretary of 
State which enables the maintained school to convert to an academy. Where a 
maintained school has been issued with an academy order, requiring that school to 
become a sponsored academy, the IEB will have the same duties to support that process 
as an ordinary governing body50. 

Membership of the IEB 

As set out in Schedule 6 to the 2006 Act, the number of interim executive members must 
not be less than two. Once the IEB has been established, further interim executive 
members can be appointed at any time. The RD can also direct the local authority as to 
the membership and the terms of appointment of an IEB appointed by that authority.  

An IEB should be a focused group appointed for the full period of time expected to make 
sufficient improvements in the school. Members of an IEB should be chosen on a case-
by-case basis, depending on the needs of the school, but should normally include 
individuals with financial skills and experience of transformational educational 
improvement. Where an academy order has already been made and a proposed 
academy trust identified, the academy trust should be represented on the IEB. If a 
proposed academy trust is identified in an academy order during the operation of the 
IEB, a representative of the academy trust should join the IEB at that point.  

Although it is not prohibited by law, in most cases we would not expect existing 
governors who are vacating office to be nominated as IEB members. Local authorities 
that  are considering doing this should discuss the particular circumstances of the school 
with the RD. The IEB may however arrange for the discharge of their functions by other 
people as they see fit51. In this way, the IEB could continue to benefit from the 
experience of existing governors and help engage future governors. The local authority 
or RD can nominate one of the members of the IEB to act as Chair. 

 

50 Under section 5B of the Academies Act 2010 as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016. 
51 Under paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 6 of the 2006 Act 

Page 70



   

35 

The local authority or RD should produce a written notice of appointment for each 
member of the IEB. Copies of this notice should be sent to: all other members of the IEB; 
the maintained school’s existing governing body; the RD (where it is a local authority 
appointed IEB); and, in the case of foundation or voluntary schools, the Diocese or other 
appropriate authority. A local authority may choose to pay interim executive members 
such remuneration and allowances as they consider appropriate. 

Interim executive members may be removed by whoever appointed them (the local 
authority or the RD). This may be for incapacity, misbehaviour, or where their written 
notice of appointment provides for termination.  

Power of the local authority to suspend the delegated 
authority for the governing body to manage a maintained 
school’s budget 

Section 66 of the 2006 Act enables a local authority to suspend the governing body’s 
right to a delegated budget by giving the governing body of the maintained school notice 
in writing. This applies where a maintained school is eligible for intervention and the 
school has a delegated budget within the meaning of Part 2 of the School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998. Using this power allows local authorities to secure control over 
staffing and spending decisions to secure improvements. There is no requirement for the 
local authority to consult before exercising this power. 

A copy of the notice must be given to the head teacher of the maintained school and the 
governing body. If the local authority or the RD has appointed an IEB, the local authority 
cannot suspend the school’s right to a delegated budget during the period when the 
governing body is constituted as an IEB.  

Power of the Secretary of State to direct a local authority on 
the appointment of interim executive members 

Where a local authority has appointed an IEB, the RD may, on behalf of the Secretary of 
State, direct the local authority as to: 

1. who the interim executive members should be; 

2. how many members the local authority can appoint; 

3. what the terms of appointment should be; and 

4. the termination of any appointment. 

Page 71



   

36 

This power will enable the RD to contribute to the make-up and the arrangements of the 
IEB where it is felt that the local authority is best placed to take the IEB forward. 

The Secretary of State will not exercise this power in relation to a school that became  
eligible for intervention after failing to comply with a warning notice issued on the grounds 
of low standards of performance, except in exceptional circumstances. 

Power of the Secretary of State to take over responsibility for 
interim executive members 

Under section 70C of the 2006 Act52, where a local authority has already appointed an 
IEB, the RD may take over responsibility for arrangements in connection with the IEB 
members. If this happens, the notice given by the local authority to the governing body 
(setting out that it will consist of interim executive members), and any further actions 
taken by the local authority in respect of the IEB, will be treated as having been given by 
the RD.  

Power of the Secretary of State to direct the closure of a maintained 
school  

Section 68 of the 2006 Act enables the Secretary of State to direct a local authority to 
close a maintained school that is eligible for intervention53. This will usually be done 
where there is no prospect of the maintained school making sufficient improvement 
through other means of support. Before this power can be exercised, the Secretary of 
State must consult: 

1. the local authority and the governing body of the school; 

2. in the case of a Church of England or Roman Catholic Church 
school, the appropriate diocesan authority; 

3. in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school the person or persons 
by whom the foundation governors are appointed; and 

4. such other persons as the Secretary of State considers appropriate. 

It is recommended that where appropriate any trustees of the school (who own the 
school site) or other relevant religious bodies should also be consulted. 

 

52 As inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016. 
53 Except a maintained school that is eligible for intervention as the result of a teachers’ pay and conditions 
warning notice. 

Page 72



   

37 

If the direction to close a maintained school has been given, the local authority will be 
expected to meet any costs of terminating staff contracts and make appropriate 
arrangements for the pupils’ continuing education, whether in a replacement school, or 
through transition to an alternative existing school. 

Local authorities and RDs should be aware that there is a presumption against the 
closure of rural schools. If the maintained school in question is designated as rural, local 
authorities have a statutory duty to consider all alternatives to closure (e.g. 
amalgamation, academy conversion) prior to publishing proposals for closure54. 

Power of the Secretary of State to make an academy order  

Using the Secretary of State’s powers under Section 4 of the Academies Act 2010, RDs 
can make an academy order in respect of a maintained school either on the application 
of a school’s governing body or if the school is eligible for intervention within the meaning 
of Part 4 of the 2006 Act.   

Where a maintained school is judged Inadequate by Ofsted the RD is under a duty to 
make an academy order. Before the RD exercises this duty, they may consider the 
viability of the school. The RD may also choose to make an academy order where a 
maintained school has failed to comply with a warning notice.55 Where an RD has 
assessed that intervention is required in a maintained school that is not making 
necessary improvements, the RD will normally expect to make an academy order in 
relation to the school unless exceptional circumstances apply, taking into account any 
representations made by the school, local authority and, where relevant, the relevant 
religious body. 

If an academy order is made in respect of a school, the RD must give a copy of the order 
to: 

1. the governing body of the school;  

2. the headteacher;  

3. the local authority; and 

4. in the case of a foundation or voluntary school that has a foundation: 

 

54 More information regarding school closure can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools 
55 RDs will only issue academy orders to maintained schools that become eligible for intervention after 
failing to comply with a warning noticed issued on the grounds of low standards of pupil performance in the 
most exceptional of circumstances. 

Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools


   

38 

(I) the trustees of the school;  

(II) the person or persons by whom the foundation governors are 
appointed; and, 

(III) in the case of a school which has a religious character, the 
appropriate religious body.  

Consultation 

For a maintained school which has been judged Inadequate by Ofsted: 

There is no requirement for a consultation to be carried out by the governing body or by 
the academy trust on whether the conversion should take place. There is no requirement 
for the RD to consult on whether the maintained school should convert to an academy. 

Where such a maintained school is a foundation or voluntary school that has a 
foundation, the RD must consult the following regarding the identity of the academy 
trust56: 

(I) the trustees of the school;  

(II) the person or persons by whom the foundation governors are 
appointed; and 

(III) in the case of a school which has a religious character, the 
appropriate religious body.  

For a maintained school that is eligible for intervention other than because it was 
judged Inadequate by Ofsted: 

There is no requirement for a consultation to be carried out by the governing body or by 
the academy trust on whether the conversion should take place. 

Where such a maintained school is not a foundation or voluntary school that has a 
foundation, there is no requirement for the RD to consult on whether the school should 
convert to an academy. 

Where such a maintained school is a foundation or voluntary school that has a 
foundation, the RD must consult: 

 

56 In relation to this requirement to consult, for the purpose of this guidance we refer to the identity of ‘the 
academy trust’ but this is in fact the identity of the person with whom the arrangements are to be entered 
into, as described in Section 5A of the Academies Act 2010, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 
2016. 

Page 74



   

39 

(I) the trustees of the school;  

(II) the person or persons by whom the foundation governors are 
appointed; and 

(III) in the case of a school which has a religious character, the 
appropriate religious body.  

 
Sponsored and Converter Academies 
 

An academy is considered a sponsored academy where an RD makes an academy order 
for a school that is eligible for intervention, or where a school has applied to become an 
academy but where the RD does not consider the school strong enough to convert 
without the additional support of a sponsor. The sponsor identified to support a 
maintained school required to become an academy will be under a duty57 to 
communicate to parents information about their plans for improving the school, before the 
school is converted into a sponsored academy.  

A converter academy is one that converts after an application by the governing body of 
the school and the RD considers the school is strong enough to do so without additional 
support. The method by which a school converts and whether it is classed as a 
sponsored or a converter academy has implications for the treatment of surplus and 
deficit balances58. 

Power of the Secretary of State to revoke an academy order 

Section 5D of the Academies Act 2010 enables the Secretary of State to revoke an 
academy order that was made because a maintained school is eligible for intervention. 
This power can be used at the discretion of the Secretary of State and it will only be used 
in exceptional circumstances and not just because a school’s Ofsted rating has 
improved. It is the Secretary of State’s view that schools in general should benefit from 
being part of an academy trust.  In the Secretary of State’s view, transferring 
underperforming maintained schools to academy trusts is the most effective means of 
securing their rapid improvement.  Ministers will make decisions on any revocations of 
academy orders.  

 

57 Section 5E of the Academies Act 2010, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016. 
58 The Treatment of surplus and deficit balances when maintained schools become academies: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/academy-conversion-surplus-and-deficit-
balance-transfer-process 

Page 75

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/academy-conversion-surplus-and-deficit-balance-transfer-process
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/academy-conversion-surplus-and-deficit-balance-transfer-process


   

40 

Examples of “exceptional circumstances” include where: 
 

1. The Secretary of State considers that the school would not be viable as an 
academy (in these cases, we would expect the local authority to close the 
maintained school and the Secretary of State can direct them to do so if 
necessary); or 
 

2. The maintained school has been re-inspected by Ofsted and judged Good or 
Outstanding, and the Secretary of State is satisfied that the improvement can be 
sustained without the support of a strong sponsor. Ofsted’s findings will be one of 
a number of sources of information the Secretary of State will consider when 
deciding whether improvement can be sustained without the support of a strong 
sponsor; or 
 

3. The maintained school was rated Inadequate by Ofsted solely on safeguarding 
grounds having previously been judged Good or Outstanding, the maintained 
school has reverted to its previous Ofsted rating and the Secretary of State is 
satisfied that the safeguarding concerns have been addressed and can be 
sustained without the support of a strong sponsor or Multi-Academy Trust.  

The examples above are not exhaustive and the Secretary of State will consider each 
case on its individual merits, taking account of any reasons put forward by the governing 
body as to why revocation is in the best interests of the pupils served by the maintained 
school. The Secretary of State will only consider revoking an academy order at the 
request of the maintained school’s governing body, except where the maintained school 
would in the Secretary of State’s view not be viable as an academy, and the local 
authority asks for the order to be revoked so that the maintained school can be closed. In 
these circumstances the local authority will be expected to close the maintained school 
following the statutory school closure process and if necessary, ministers may use the 
power to direct them to do so. 

 

 

Page 76



   

41 

Chapter 4: Academies causing concern  
The department will hold academies to account just as robustly as they would maintained 
schools. In particular, RDs (with the ESFA as appropriate) will assess what action is 
necessary wherever an academy is judged Inadequate by Ofsted, is not making 
necessary improvements, or where financial mismanagement and/or governance failure 
is identified. A range of information is systematically collected and shared with RDs and 
the ESFA, who will agree a robust and joined up approach to addressing 
underperformance. Where concerns are identified, the department will take action in line 
with the funding agreement of the academy in question. 

Termination warning notices in academies  

Arrangements for academies to be issued with a warning notice where they have not 
been judged Inadequate by Ofsted and have not met the definition of a school that is not 
making necessary improvements, but are otherwise causing concern, are specified in 
their academy funding agreements. Such warning notices can usually be given on the 
grounds that: 

1. the academy trust has breached the provisions of its funding agreement;  
 

2. there has been a serious breakdown in the way the academy is managed or 
governed; or 
 

3. the safety of pupils or staff is threatened, including by a breakdown of 
discipline.  

A Notice to Improve (NtI) may be issued where there is evidence of financial 
mismanagement or related poor governance arrangements.  Detail on what could 
constitute a serious breakdown in management or governance, or the safety of pupils or 
staff being threatened are similar to those for maintained schools and more information 
can be found on pages 14-16.  

An academy’s funding agreement may also allow an RD to issue a warning notice for 
educational standards that are unacceptably low. However, RDs will only issue this kind 
of termination warning notice in exceptional circumstances.59 

The RD (on behalf of the Secretary of State) will consider any representations from the 
academy trust received by the date specified in the termination warning notice. If the 

 

59 The Secretary of State will consider the use of their termination powers as set out in the Funding 
Agreement if requested to do so in writing by the Diocesan Authority in accordance with Section 12 of the 
Church Supplemental Agreement.  

Page 77



   

42 

academy trust fails to carry out the actions set out in a termination warning notice the RD 
may issue a termination notice.    

Where a local authority has concerns about standards, management or governance, or 
safety in an academy, it should alert the relevant RD. 

Warning notices issued to academy trusts by RDs are published online60, as well as 
being shared with Ofsted at the time of issuing. 

Academies judged Inadequate 

The RD will respond just as swiftly if an academy has been judged Inadequate by Ofsted 
as they would for a maintained school.  

As set out in the Academies Act 201061, regardless of the terms in an academy’s funding 
agreement, the RD (on behalf of the Secretary of State) can terminate the funding 
agreement of an academy that has been judged Inadequate. This is a power rather than 
a duty, meaning the RD may decide to implement other measures to improve the 
academy, rather than terminate its funding agreement to bring about a change of 
academy trust, for example, where a change of academy trust would prevent the 
consolidation of improvements in an academy.  

Where termination is appropriate, the RD on behalf of the Secretary of State must first 
give the academy trust an opportunity to make representations.  

Where a Church Supplemental Agreement has been entered into, alongside the funding 
agreement, the RD will also notify the appropriate diocesan body and consider its 
representations. The RD must comply with any other terms specified in the Church 
Supplemental Agreement regarding termination.  When considering the use of 
intervention powers in Church academies causing concern, the RD will continue to have 
regard to the Church memoranda of understanding. A link to the memoranda can be 
found in the ‘further sources of information’ section of this guidance.   

When an academy has been judged Inadequate, the RD may identify a new academy 
trust to take on responsibility for the academy, and will enter into a new funding 
agreement in respect of that academy (this is sometimes referred to as an academy 
transfer). RDs will assess these cases on an individual basis, and may not effect a 
transfer. If the academy that was judged Inadequate was previously a ‘standalone’ 
academy, this will generally mean it will join a strong multi-academy trust that has been 
assessed as having the capacity to improve the academy. The academy will continue to 

 

60 Via: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/letters-to-academies-about-poor-performance  
61 Sections 2A and 2D of the Academies Act 2010, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016. 

Page 78

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/letters-to-academies-about-poor-performance


   

43 

function, and the RD and the new academy trust will work to ensure minimal disruption to 
pupils’ education during the transition. In some exceptional cases, where the academy is 
not considered viable in the long term, the RD can move to terminate the funding 
agreement in order to close it. 

Academies that are not making necessary improvements 

From 1st September 2022, the Secretary of State may use the discretionary power to 
intervene in academies that are coasting (not making necessary improvements).  
 
Eligibility for intervention  
 
Judgments of below ‘Good’ that are issued to predecessor schools will count towards the 
measure of when an academy is coasting (not making necessary improvements). This 
includes judgments issued to maintained schools (prior to their conversion to academy 
status), and judgments issued to academies when they were part of a different academy 
trust (prior to academy transfer).62 

RDs will not intervene in relation to an academy that has not yet received a graded 
inspection under section 5 of the Education Act 2005 in its current academy trust, other 
than in exceptional circumstances. For example, where there are wider concerns about 
the capacity and capability of the academy trust.  

RDs will only consider intervention in academies that have 2, 3 or 4 consecutive less 
than Good Ofsted judgments if they have received their most recent Ofsted inspection 
under Section 5 of the Education Act 2005 since 1 May 2021. RDs will consider 
intervention in academies where there is a long-term history of underperformance (5 or 
more consecutive less than Good Ofsted judgments) regardless of the date of their last 
Ofsted inspection. 

Communication 

From the autumn term 2022 the RD (acting on behalf of the Secretary of State) will send 
a letter to the academy trust of an eligible academy that is not making necessary 
improvements (as defined on page 12) notifying them that the academy has met the new 
coasting definition. In such cases, the Secretary of State will have the power to terminate 
the academy’s funding agreement using their coasting powers. The RD will set out in the 
notification letter the likely timescales for further communication. Where relevant, letters 
will be copied to the religious body. 

 

62 Predecessor schools will be determined using the department’s central register of schools, Get 
information about schools (GIAS). 

Page 79



   

44 

In order to prioritise support in the areas that need it most, RDs will consider whether 
eligible schools that are located in Education Investment Areas (EIAs) require 
intervention and further support first. From the autumn term 2022, all academy trusts with 
academies in EIAs that are notified that they are not making necessary improvements will 
receive a second letter with respect to each academy informing them that the respective 
academy is now eligible for intervention and the academy trust will be invited to make 
representations. Where relevant this letter will also be copied to the religious body.  

Academy trusts with eligible academies located outside of EIAs will be informed in their 
initial notification letter when to expect further correspondence. 

Where an academy meeting the new coasting definition has had its first inspection in a 
trust following conversion or transfer and has improved from ‘Inadequate’ to ‘Requires 
Improvement’, the RD will write to the trust confirming that the academy meets the 
definition, but will normally also notify the trust that no further action will be taken at 
present in view of the improvement. RDs will continue to monitor the academy and may 
take action if the academy does not continue to improve. 
 
Process for intervention  
 
Before taking any further action in academies not making necessary improvements, the 
RD will assess the capacity of the academy trust to achieve rapid and sustained 
improvements and whether intervention should be recommended to support the academy 
to improve. The RD will consider the academy’s specific circumstances, including but not 
limited to: 
 

• Inspection evidence relating to the academy and its predecessor institutions, in 
particular evidence concerning the quality of leadership and management, 
including both graded inspections under section 5 of the Education Act 2005, and 
monitoring inspections under section 8 of the Education Act 2005; 

 
• the trajectory of academy inspection outcomes, including those of its predecessor 

schools, and whether the RD has confidence that the current academy trust can 
sustain any improvements without intervention; 
 

• Performance data and other quantitative information, where it is available; 
 

• The local context and any additional information provided by the academy trust ( 
and where relevant, the religious body) on receipt of notification of their eligibility 
for intervention. 

 
When considering performance data, the RD will take into account the Department’s 

Page 80



   

45 

commitments around using performance data in response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. 
This includes a commitment not to use 2020 or 2021 assessment, test or exam results  
data to hold schools to account. When considering data based on results from 
assessment, tests or exams taken in academic year 2021/22 the RD will treat this data 
with caution, including using it only to compare to a school’s results to the local or 
national averages for 21/22, not using it to compare 2 schools to each other, and not 
directly comparing 21/22 data to data from previous years.63    
 
If the RD considers that intervention in the academy is appropriate, they will issue a 
Termination Warning Notice (TWN). It is the Secretary of State’s policy that all schools 
should benefit from being part of a strong multi-academy trust. Where a standalone 
academy (as defined on page 11) meets the definition of not making necessary 
improvements there will be a presumption in favour of the RD issuing a TWN with a view 
to transferring the academy to a strong multi-academy trust. 
 
However, this presumption is rebuttable. There may be cases where the RD does not 
consider it necessary to issue a TWN to a standalone academy not making necessary 
improvements. In each case, the particular circumstances of the academy, and the needs 
of its pupils, will be assessed in the round, in order to establish the best course of action. 
 
All academies’ funding agreements allow the RD (on behalf of the Secretary of State) to 
terminate the funding agreement where the academy is coasting (not making necessary 
improvements)64. Before terminating the funding agreement on these grounds, the RD 
must first issue a TWN requiring the academy trust to take specified action to improve the 
academy by a specified date. By way of illustration, this could include: 

• entering into a partnership with a provider of school improvement support by a 
given date 

• providing a plan to improve areas of weakness, with milestones to be agreed with 
the RD, and subsequently implementing that plan. In standalone academies this 
may include taking steps to join a strong multi-academy trust 

• other activity aimed at improving weaknesses in the academy’s educational 
provision, financial management or governance. 

The TWN will also require the academy trust to respond to the RD, either by making 
representations, or by agreeing to take the specified action by the specified date. 

 

63 For more information about how the department will use accountability performance data please visit:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-school-and-college-performance-
measures 
64 Sections 2B and 2D of the Academies Act 2010, as inserted by the Education and Adoption Act 2016.  

Page 81

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-school-and-college-performance-measures
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-school-and-college-performance-measures


   

46 

If the academy trust does not fulfil the conditions of a TWN or respond by the dates 
specified, the RD may terminate the academy’s funding agreement and transfer the 
academy to a new academy trust. Before deciding to terminate the academy’s funding 
agreement, the RD will consider any representations and information that have been 
received in response to the TWN.  

In any circumstances where a special academy is assessed for suitability for intervention, 
extra consideration will be given to identifying the most suitable course of action and 
sponsor in relation to each academy’s specific context. 
 
Where a Church supplemental agreement is in place alongside the academy’s funding 
agreement, the RD will copy in the appropriate diocesan body to all letters sent to the 
academy trust regarding an academy that is not making necessary improvements. The 
RD will also extend all invitations to make representations in relation to an academy that 
is not making necessary improvements to the relevant diocesan authority. When 
considering the use of intervention powers in Church academies causing concern, the 
RD will continue to have regard to the Church memoranda of understanding.  

Financial intervention in academies  

The Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) is responsible for the effectiveness of 
the financial system for academies. High standards of governance and financial 
management are key to the effective running of an academy trust and underpin the 
trust’s ability to support academies in delivering the best educational outcomes. The 
ESFA will work alongside RDs, and other parts of the department to help build a strong 
system of financial management. Where instances of financial underperformance arise, 
the ESFA will take action to bring about improvements. Guidance for academies 
concerning financial management, control and reporting requirements can be found in 
the Academy Trust Handbook65.  

Where the ESFA or RDs have concerns about financial management and/or governance 
in an academy trust a Notice to Improve (NtI) may be issued. All NtIs are published 
online. The academy trust must comply with the NtI. Failure to comply will be deemed a 
breach of the funding agreement. In exceptional circumstances, the funding agreement 
may be terminated due to non-compliance with an NtI. More information concerning 
financial intervention and NtIs can be found in the Academy Trust Handbook. 

 

65 Also known as the Academies financial handbook. More information on the Academy Trust Handbook 
can be found here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/academies-financial-handbook 

Page 82

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/academies-financial-handbook


   

47 

Chapter 5: Other local authority duties 

School performance  

A local authority must exercise its education functions with a view to promoting high 
standards66.  
 
Beyond the above statutory duty, local authorities have considerable freedom as to how 
they deliver their statutory responsibilities. Local authorities should act as champions of 
high standards of education across maintained schools in their area, and in doing so 
should:  
 

• Understand the performance of maintained schools in their area, using data as 
a starting point to identify any maintained school that is underperforming, while 
working with them to explore ways to support progress;  

 
• Work closely with the relevant RD, diocese and other local partners to ensure 

maintained schools receive the support they need to improve;  
 

• Where underperformance has been recognised in a maintained school, 
proactively work with the relevant RD, combining local and regional expertise 
to ensure the right approach, including sending warning notices, and using 
intervention powers where this will improve leadership and standards; and  

 
• Encourage Good and Outstanding maintained schools to take responsibility for 

their own improvement; support other maintained schools; and enable other 
maintained schools to access the support they need to improve.  

 
The School Improvement Monitoring and Brokering Grant67 will be provided to local 
authorities to assist them in fulfilling these core school improvement activities for the 
maintained schools in their area. The grant will cease in 2023-24, phased so that it will be 
reduced to 50% of the previous amount on a per school basis in FY 2022-23. From 2022-
23, local authorities will be permitted to de-delegate from maintained schools’ budget 
shares to fund this core school improvement activity. 
 
As set out above, these core school improvement activities extend beyond exercising of 
statutory intervention powers but do not extend to a duty to provide or fund school 

 

66 Section 13A of the Education Act 1996. 
67 More information on the School Improvement Monitoring and Brokering Grant can be found here: 
Government response - Reforming how LA SI functions are funded (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Page 83

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1045633/Government_response_-_Reforming_how_LA_SI_functions_are_funded.pdf
Highlight



   

48 

improvement services themselves; and relate only to schools they maintain, rather than 
academies which are accountable to the Secretary of State. However, should a local 
authority have any concerns about an academy’s standards, leadership or governance, 
they should raise these directly with the relevant RD.  
 
RDs will apply the same rigour to the academies and free schools in their regions, as 
local authorities should apply to maintained schools in their area, and will similarly 
champion education excellence. 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 

Local authorities are subject to a range of duties under the Children and Families Act 
201468 and the Equality Act 2010 relating to children and young people with special 
educational needs (SEN) and disabilities (SEND). Information on local authority 
responsibilities in relation to children with SEND can be found in the SEND Code of 
Practice69.  

Local authorities must keep their educational and training provision and social care 
provision for children and young people with SEN or disabilities under review. 
  
Local authorities must carry out their functions with a view to identifying all the children 
and young people in their area who have or may have SEN or have or may have a 
disability. In addition, where a child or young person is brought to their attention, the local 
authority must decide whether to carry out an Education, Health and Care (EHC) needs 
assessment and, if necessary, issue an EHC plan. If they issue an EHC plan, the local 
authority must secure the special educational provision specified in it and must maintain 
the plan. Local authorities fund any additional costs of this provision from the high needs 
block of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).   
 
In performing all these functions local authorities are subject to duties in the Equality Act 
2010, including the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

Where, in fulfilling its statutory duties to keep special educational provision under review 
or to secure provision in an EHC plan, a local authority identifies concerns over the 
standards, management or governance, or safety of a maintained school or academy, 
they should raise them with the maintaining LA or the RD.   

 

68 Children and Families Act 2014, Part 3, Section 22.  
69 More information on the SEND Code of Practice can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25 

Page 84

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
Highlight

Highlight



   

49 

Alternative Provision 

When children of compulsory school age are not receiving suitable education, for 
example as a result of a permanent exclusion or where a child has health-related needs 
that mean they are unable to attend a mainstream school full-time, the local authority has 
a duty under the Education Act 1996 to arrange it. Schools may also commission places 
in PRUs, for example if they are arranging suitable full-time education from the sixth day 
of a fixed period exclusion or if they are directing pupils off-site in order to help improve 
their behaviour.  

Where, in fulfilling its statutory duties to secure alternative provision, a local authority 
identifies concerns over the standards, management, governance, or safety of a PRU or 
AP academy, they should raise them with the maintaining local authority and the RD.   

Safeguarding 

Local authorities have overarching responsibility for safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of all children and young people in their area, regardless of the types of 
educational settings they attend. There are a number of statutory duties under the 1989 
and 2004 Children Acts which make this clear. In order to fulfil these duties effectively, 
local authorities need to work in partnership with all schools (including independent 
schools), appropriate religious bodies and further education and sixth form colleges in 
their area. 

Where a local authority has concerns about an academy or free school’s safeguarding 
arrangements or procedures (arising as a result of investigations about individual children 
or otherwise), these concerns should be raised to the DfE as the body with responsibility 
for ensuring that academy trusts comply with their Funding Agreements. Details of the 
concern should be submitted through the online enquiry form70 where it will be directed to 
the appropriate regional team. 

Where a local authority has a concern about an independent school’s safeguarding 
arrangements or procedures (arising as a result of investigations about individual children 
or otherwise), these concerns should be reported to the Independent Education Division 
at the DfE, who have responsibility for enforcing the independent school standards and 
taking regulatory action where necessary. 

Where a local authority has a concern about safeguarding at a maintained school, the 
authority can use its intervention powers as set out in this guidance. 

 

70 The DfE enquiry form can be found here: https://www.gov.uk/contact-dfe  

Page 85

https://form.education.gov.uk/en/AchieveForms/?form_uri=sandbox-publish://AF-Process-f1453496-7d8a-463f-9f33-1da2ac47ed76/AF-Stage-1e64d4cc-25fb-499a-a8d7-74e98203ac00/definition.json&redirectlink=%2Fen&cancelRedirectLink=%2Fen
https://www.gov.uk/contact-dfe


   

50 

‘Keeping Children Safe in Education’71 is statutory guidance to which schools and 
colleges must have regard when carrying out their duties to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children. ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children’ is statutory guidance on 
multi-agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of children72. 

Schools’ governing bodies and proprietors should ensure that the school or college 
contributes to multi-agency working in line with statutory guidance Working Together to 
Safeguard Children (2018). Schools and colleges should work with local safeguarding 
partners – the local authority, police and health services - to promote the welfare of 
children and protect them from harm. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

71 Keeping Children Safe in Education: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-
in-education--2 
72 Working Together to Safeguard Children: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-
to-safeguard-children--2 

Page 86

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


   

51 

Chapter 6: Governance 
Full details of the duties on both governing bodies of maintained schools and academy 
trusts in relation to governance are set out in the Governance Handbook, which also 
includes key principles of effective governance (see ‘Further sources of information’). We 
expect governing bodies to ensure parents are updated on support that is provided to 
address concerns about performance, whether through the local authority or RD. 

Additional non-statutory guidance relating to local authority oversight of 
governance in maintained schools 

Local authorities should take an active interest in the quality of governance in maintained 
schools. Local authorities should promote and support high standards of governance, 
recognising where a maintained school could improve and encouraging governing bodies 
to do so. They should be champions for high quality school governance; help ensure that 
governors have the necessary skills; and have in place appropriate monitoring 
arrangements to identify signs of failure in relation to governing bodies’ oversight of 
finance, safety or performance standards.  

Maintained schools should have a code of conduct setting high standards for the role, 
conduct and professionalism of their governors. This includes an expectation that they 
undertake any training or development activity needed to fill skills gaps to contribute to 
the effective governance of the maintained school. 

Section 22 of the Education Act 2002 provides that local authorities should ensure that 
training they consider necessary to discharge their duties is made available to every 
governor, free of charge. It is also possible for governing bodies to suspend governors 
who refuse to undertake necessary training73. 

As a result, local authorities should have arrangements in place for maintaining up to 
date records of governors in maintained schools. This should include contact details for 
chairs of governing bodies to aid direct communication with those who are accountable 
for maintained schools. It should also enable them to carry out any necessary due 
diligence including identifying governors who sit on more than one governing body. 
Information held by the local authority should also be made available to the Department 
for Education upon request. Local authorities should also encourage transparency 
around maintained school governance arrangements including through information 
published on maintained school websites in line with statutory guidance74 and 

 

73 More information on suspending governors can be found in the governance handbook. A link to the hand 
book can be found in the ‘further sources of information’ section of this guidance.  
74 More information on the constitution of governing bodies of maintained schools can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/constitution-of-governing-bodies-of-
maintained-schools 

Page 87

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/constitution-of-governing-bodies-of-maintained-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/constitution-of-governing-bodies-of-maintained-schools


   

52 

compliance with maintained schools’ duties under s538 of the Education Act 1996 to 
populate all of the governance fields on Get Information About Schools75 (GIAS).   

In carrying out these responsibilities in respect of voluntary and foundation schools, local 
authorities will also need to work closely with religious bodies or other bodies who 
appoint the governors.  

Where a local authority has concerns about the governance of an academy or free 
school in their area, they should raise this with the relevant RD. 

Schools causing concern and charity law 

Academy trusts, and the governing bodies of foundation and voluntary schools are all 
charities and must comply with charity law. They are exempt from registration and direct 
regulation by the Charity Commission and are instead overseen by a Principal Regulator 
– the Secretary of State. As Principal Regulator the Secretary of State has a duty to 
promote charity law compliance by the charity trustees with their legal obligations in a 
trust’s management and administration. Enforcement powers rest with the Charity 
Commission. 

The Charity Commission can exercise powers of investigation and enforcement over 
these charities where the Secretary of State, as Principal Regulator, requests that the 
Commission investigates a concern that the department has identified. This means that, 
in consultation with the Principal Regulator, the Charity Commission may investigate and, 
if a serious failure to comply with charity law is found, will have the necessary 
enforcement powers to act if sanctions are required. A memorandum of understanding is 
in place, which sets out how the Department and the Charity Commission work together, 
including principles for managing referrals.76  

The members of the governing body of a foundation or voluntary school, and academy 
trustees, are charity trustees in law and have a number of duties under charity law, which 
overlap their duties as school governors and academy trustees. These are summarised 
and explained in Charity Commission guidance, The Essential Trustee77.  

If a school is causing concern or is eligible for intervention, the charity trustees may also 
be in breach of one or more of their charity law duties. It is important to remember, 
however, that the charity trustees continue to be bound to comply with charity law. RDs 

 

75 Schools must also ensure that they are providing accurate details on GIAS. It is important for schools to 
keep their GIAS record updated with their latest governance arrangements; this enables the Department to 
quickly and accurately identify individuals who have a role in governance. More information on updating 
your GIAS record can be found here: https://www.get-information-schools.service.gov.uk/guidance 
76 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/memorandum-of-understanding-charity-commission-and-
the-department-for-education. 
77 The Charity Commission’s guidance ‘The Essential Trustee’ can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-essential-trustee-what-you-need-to-know-cc3 

Page 88

https://www.get-information-schools.service.gov.uk/guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/memorandum-of-understanding-charity-commission-and-the-department-for-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/memorandum-of-understanding-charity-commission-and-the-department-for-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-essential-trustee-what-you-need-to-know-cc3


   

53 

and local authorities should bear this in mind when exercising powers of intervention, and 
as far as possible take an approach that allows charity trustees to comply with their 
duties and take an active role in resolving the concern. 

The role of the academy trustee is crucial in the effective governance of academies, and 
requires the highest level of conduct. The Department may refer cases involving 
misconduct on the part of academy trustees to the Insolvency Service for consideration 
under the Company Directors Disqualification Act 1986. The Memorandum of 
Understanding between the Department and the Insolvency Service sets out how we will 
work together to coordinate regulatory operations.78 

The Department also has its own powers, under section 128 of the Education and Skills 
Act 2008, to sanction individuals engaged in misconduct by barring them from 
involvement in the management of education institutions. We will always first consider 
using these powers where there is evidence to suggest that individuals have engaged in 
misconduct and are unsuitable to be involved in the management of schools.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

78 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/memorandum-of-understanding-dfe-and-the-insolvency-
service 

Page 89



   

54 

Chapter 7: Pupil referral Units  
Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) are maintained by the local authority (although they are not 
included within the definition of a ‘maintained school’). PRUs are set up to provide 
education for pupils of compulsory school age outside mainstream or special schools, 
who would not otherwise receive suitable education for any reason. This includes 
permanently excluded pupils, pupils with health needs preventing school attendance, or 
those without a school place. Schools may also commission places in PRUs, for example 
if they are arranging suitable full-time education from the sixth day of a fixed period 
exclusion or if they are directing pupils off-site in order to help improve their behaviour. 

Regulations give the Secretary of State specific powers of intervention in PRUs. These 
powers are: 

• The power to direct closure of a PRU79; 

• The power to appoint an interim executive board (IEB)80; 

• A power to make an academy order in PRUs that are not making necessary 
improvements (as defined on page 12); 

• A duty to make an academy order in PRUs judged Inadequate by Ofsted81.  

The RD may establish an IEB in a PRU where it has received an Inadequate judgment 
from Ofsted, where the PRU has met the definition of a school not making necessary 
improvements (and has been informed it is so), or where the Secretary of State is 
satisfied that: 

• the standards of performance of pupils at the PRU are unacceptably low, and are 
likely to remain so82; 

 

79 Section 68 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 read together with paragraph 23 of Schedule 1 to 
the Education (Pupil Referral Units) (Application of Enactments) (England) Regulations 2007, as amended 
by regulation 3 of the Pupil Referral Units (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England) Regulations 2012. 
80 Section 69 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 read together with regulations 2 and 24 of the 
Education (Pupil Referral Units) (Management Committees etc.) (England) Regulations 2007, as amended 
by regulation 2 of the Pupil Referral Units (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England) Regulations 2012.  
81 Section 4 of the Academies Act 2010 read together with paragraph 23C of Schedule 1 to the Education 
(Pupil Referral Units) (Application of Enactments) (England) Regulations 2007 as amended by regulations 
2 and 4 of the Education (Pupil Referral Units) (Application of Enactments) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2012 and regulations 2 and 3 of the Education (Pupil Referral Units) (Application of 
Enactments) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2016.  
82 Low performance standards are explained in further detail in regulation 2(2)(a) of the Education (Pupil 
Referral Units) (Management Committees etc.) (England) Regulations 2007 as amended by regulation 2 of 
the Pupil Referral Units (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Page 90



   

55 

• the quality of provision for pupils at the PRU is unacceptably low83; 

• there has been a serious breakdown in the way the PRU is conducted which is 
prejudicing, or likely to prejudice, such standards of performance; or 

• the safety of pupils or staff of the PRU is threatened (whether by a breakdown of 
discipline or otherwise). 

Where a PRU has received an Ofsted Inadequate judgement, the RD will take 
responsibility for ensuring that the PRU becomes a sponsored Alternative Provision (AP) 
academy as swiftly as possible. This includes identifying the most suitable sponsor and 
brokering the new relationship between that sponsor and the PRU.  

The PRU’s management committee will not be required to conduct a consultation but, 
along with the local authority that maintains the PRU, will be under a duty to take all 
reasonable steps to facilitate the conversion of the PRU into an AP academy. Where 
necessary, the Secretary of State for Education will be able to direct the PRU’s 
management committee or the local authority to take specified steps within a set 
timescale to enable the PRU to become an AP academy. 

The Secretary of State has a power to revoke academy orders issued to PRUs who are 
eligible for intervention. The policy for the use of this power is the same as that for 
maintained schools and is set out on page 39.  

Pupil referral units not making necessary improvements    

From 1st September 2022, the Secretary of State will have a discretionary power to 
intervene in PRUs that are coasting (not making necessary improvements).   

Eligibility for intervention  

RDs will only notify PRUs that they have met the definition of a school that is coasting 
(not making necessary improvements) and have 2,3 or 4 consecutive Ofsted judgments 
of less than Good if they have received their most recent Ofsted inspection under Section 
5 of the Education Act 2005 since 01 May 2021. PRUs where there is a long-term history 
of underperformance (5 or more consecutive less than Good Ofsted judgments) will be 
notified that they have met the definition of a school that is coasting (not making 
necessary improvements) regardless of the date of their last Ofsted inspection. 

 

83 Low quality of provision is explained in further detail in regulation 2(2)(b) of the Education (Pupil Referral 
Units) (Management Committees etc.) (England) Regulations 2007 as amended by regulation 2 of the Pupil 
Referral Units (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England) Regulations 2012.  

Page 91



   

56 

 

Communication 

From the autumn term 2022 the RD (acting on behalf of the Secretary of State) will send 
a letter to the management committee of a PRU that is not making necessary 
improvements (as defined on page 12) notifying them that the school has met the new 
coasting definition. The effect of this letter is that the PRU will become eligible for 
intervention. The RD will set out in the notification letter the likely timescales for further 
communication. Where relevant, letters will be copied to the religious body. 

In order to prioritise support in the areas that need it most, RDs will consider whether 
PRUs that are located in Education Investment Areas (EIAs) require intervention and 
further support first. From the autumn term 2022, all PRUs in EIAs notified that they are 
not making necessary improvements will receive a second letter informing them that they 
are now eligible for intervention and the management committee will be invited to make 
representations.  

PRUs located outside of EIAs will be informed in their initial notification letter when to 
expect further correspondence. 

Process for intervention  

Where a PRU is not making necessary improvements and the RD considers that 
intervention action is appropriate, the RD will inform the management committee of the 
presumption in favour of making an AP academy order, and will consider any 
representations received from the management committee before taking action.  

When a PRU becomes eligible for intervention, the RD will assess the capacity of the 
PRU to achieve rapid and sustained improvements and whether intervention should be 
recommended to support the PRU to improve. The RD will consider the PRU’s specific 
circumstances, including but not limited to: 

• Inspection evidence relating to the PRU and its predecessor institutions, in 
particular evidence concerning the quality of leadership and management, 
including both graded inspections under section 5 of the Education Act 2005, and 
monitoring inspections under section 8 of the Education Act 2005; 
 

• The trajectory of the PRU’s inspection outcomes and whether the RD has 
confidence that any initial improvements will continue without intervention; 
 

• Performance data and other quantitative information, where it is available; 
 

Page 92



   

57 

• The local context and any additional information provided by the management 
committee on receipt of notification of their eligibility for intervention (and, where 
relevant, the relevant religious body). 

 

When considering performance data, the RD will take into account the Department’s 
commitments around using performance data in response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. 
This includes a commitment not to use 2020 or 2021 assessment, test or exam results  
data to hold schools to account. When considering data based on results from 
assessment, tests or exams taken in academic year 2021/22 the RD will treat this data 
with caution, including using it only to compare to a PRU’s results to the local or national 
averages for 21/22, not using it to compare 2 PRUs to each other, and not directly 
comparing 21/22 data to data from previous years.84    

RDs will consider the views and evidence put forward by the local authority responsible 
for the PRU, before intervening in an underperforming PRU.  
 
In each case, the particular circumstances of the PRU, and the needs of its pupils, will be 
assessed in the round, in order to establish the best course of action.  
 
Where RDs decide to make an AP academy order, the RD, acting on behalf of the 
Secretary of State, will take responsibility for ensuring that the PRU becomes an AP 
academy as swiftly as possible, including by identifying a suitable academy sponsor and 
brokering the new relationship between that academy trust and the PRU. 

  

 

84 For more information about how the department will use accountability performance data please visit:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-school-and-college-performance-
measures 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-school-and-college-performance-measures
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-school-and-college-performance-measures


   

58 

Further sources of information 

Legislation  

• Education and Adoption Act 2016 (which amends the Education and Inspections 
Act 2006 and the Academies Act 2010) 

• Education Act 2011 (which amended the 2006 Act and also the Academies Act 
2010 in respect of land transfers to academies. Schedule 14 applies)  

• Academies Act 2010 
• Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 (amended the 2006 Act) - 

makes provision for apprenticeships, education, training and children's services. 
• Education and Inspections Act 2006 
• Education Act 2002 Schedule 2 Effect on Staffing on suspension of delegated 

budget 
• School Governance (Transition from an Interim Executive Board) (England) 

Regulations 2010  
• School Governance (Role, Procedures and Allowances) (England) Regulations 

2013 – associated departmental guidance can be found on the DfE website here.  
• School Standards and Framework Act 1998 - contains provisions for schools and 

nursery education. This covers further education for young people at school, and 
in FE institutions across the UK. 

• Education and skills Acts 2008  
• Company Directors Disqualification Act 1986 
• The Coasting Schools (England) Regulations 2022  

Guidance 

• Governance Handbook Departmental advice 
• Working Together to Safeguard Children Statutory guidance 
• Keeping Children Safe in Education Statutory guidance 
• External reviews of school governance Departmental guidance 
• External reviews of the pupil premium Departmental guidance 
• Interim Executive Board Application form and guidance 

Other departmental resources 

• Performance tables – user guide and resources (includes progress measures) 

• School and college performance tables: statements of intent 

• Church school memoranda of understanding  

• Regional Directors (RDs) 

Page 94

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/6/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/32/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/22/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/40/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/32/schedule/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/1918/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/1918/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1624/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1624/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-governance-regulations-2013
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/31/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/25/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1986/46/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2022/720
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/481147/Governance_handbook_November_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keeping-children-safe-in-education--2
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/reviews-of-school-governance
https://www.gov.uk/pupil-premium-reviews
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/interim-executive-board-application-form
http://www.education.gov.uk/schools/performance/documents.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-and-college-performance-tables-statements-of-intent
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/church-schools-and-academies-memoranda-of-understanding
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/schools-commissioners-group


59 

© Crown copyright 2022 

This publication (not including logos) is licensed under the terms of the Open 
Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. Where we have identified any 
third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright 
holders concerned. 

To view this licence: 

visit  www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3  
email  psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk 
write to Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London, TW9 4DU 

About this publication: 

enquiries   www.education.gov.uk/contactus  
download  www.gov.uk/government/publications 

Follow us on Twitter: 
@educationgovuk 

Like us on Facebook: 
facebook.com/educationgovuk 

Page 95

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications
http://twitter.com/educationgovuk
http://www.facebook.com/educationgovuk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting - 20 October 2022
	5 Dedicated Schools Grant 2023/24
	6 Lewisham Learning - Options for De-delegation
	Appendix 1 - Reforming How Locaal Authorities School Functions Are Funded
	Introduction
	Who this is for
	Issue date
	Enquiries
	Additional copies
	The response

	About this consultation
	Respond online
	Other ways to respond

	Deadline

	Reforming how local authorities’ school improvement functions are funded
	Background: Councils’ school improvement functions and how they are currently funded
	Proposal and rationale
	Proposal 1: Removing the Grant
	Proposal 2: Including provisions in the School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations to enable councils to fund all core improvement activities via de-delegation
	Clarifying guidance provided to councils with respect to school improvement
	Timeline
	Questions


	Appendix 2 - Schools Causing Concern - Guidance - Update - Representations
	Key principles
	Introduction of new powers in schools that are not making necessary improvements
	Summary
	About this guidance
	Effective from date
	Expiry or review date
	What legislation does this guidance refer to?
	Who is this guidance for?
	Terminology

	Chapter 1: Introduction
	Chapter 2: Maintained schools ‘eligible for intervention’
	Warning notices in maintained schools
	Roles of local authorities and RDs
	Low standards of pupil performance
	Breakdown in the way a maintained school is managed or governed
	The safety of pupils or staff at a maintained school is threatened (whether by a breakdown of discipline or otherwise)

	Teachers’ pay and conditions warning notices
	Issuing a warning notice to a maintained school
	Actions local authorities and RDs may take in maintained schools that have failed to comply with a warning notice
	Maintained schools judged Inadequate by Ofsted
	Maintained schools that are not making necessary improvements

	Chapter 3: Specific powers of local authorities and the Secretary of State in maintained schools eligible for intervention
	Local authority and Secretary of State powers to require the governing body to enter into arrangements
	Local authority and Secretary of State powers to appoint additional governors
	Local authority and Secretary of State powers to appoint an Interim Executive Board (IEB)
	Power of the local authority to suspend the delegated authority for the governing body to manage a maintained school’s budget
	Power of the Secretary of State to direct a local authority on the appointment of interim executive members
	Power of the Secretary of State to take over responsibility for interim executive members
	Power of the Secretary of State to direct the closure of a maintained school

	Local authorities and RDs should be aware that there is a presumption against the closure of rural schools. If the maintained school in question is designated as rural, local authorities have a statutory duty to consider all alternatives to closure (e...
	Power of the Secretary of State to make an academy order
	For a maintained school that is eligible for intervention other than because it was judged Inadequate by Ofsted:

	Power of the Secretary of State to revoke an academy order

	Chapter 4: Academies causing concern
	Academies judged Inadequate
	Academies that are not making necessary improvements
	Financial intervention in academies

	Chapter 5: Other local authority duties
	School performance
	Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)
	Alternative Provision
	Safeguarding

	Chapter 6: Governance
	Additional non-statutory guidance relating to local authority oversight of governance in maintained schools
	Schools causing concern and charity law

	Chapter 7: Pupil referral Units
	Pupil referral units not making necessary improvements

	Further sources of information
	Legislation
	Guidance
	Other departmental resources






